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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS ON HIV, AIDS
AND TB
Introduction
The South African National AIDS Council (SANAC) is a
voluntary association of institutions established by the
National Cabinet of the South African Government to build
consensus across government, civil society and all other
stakeholders to drive an enhanced country response to
the combined scourges of HIV, TB and STIs. The Council
is not a juristic person. Under the direction of SANAC, the
government of South Africa created the SANAC Trust as
the legal entity that is charged with achieving its aims. The
SANAC Secretariat continues to implement the objectives
of the SANAC Trust established in terms of the Trust
Property Control Act and outlined in the Trust Deed.
The vision of the South African National AIDS Council
(SANAC) is to ensure a healthy life for all South Africans.
Our vision is translated into action through the National
Strategic Plan for HIV, TB and STIs (NSP). The fourth
NSP was adopted on 31 March 2017 to guide the country
response to HIV, TB and STIs. The NSP is closely aligned
to the National Development Plan, locating the struggles
of the epidemics within the broader struggle for economic
and social development. The NSP outlines the strategic
framework for a multi-sectoral partnership to further
accelerate progress in reducing morbidity and mortality
associated with HIV, TB and STIs in South Africa. Through
the rollout of the National Strategic Plan (NSP) for HIV and
AIDS, TB and STIs (2017 – 2022), SANAC has a duty to
support and to promote the following goals of the NSP:

1.	Accelerate prevention to reduce new HIV and TB
infections and STIs;
2.	Reduce morbidity and mortality by providing HIV,
TB and STI treatment, care and adherence support
to all;
3.	
Reach all key and vulnerable populations with
customised and targeted interventions;
4.	Address the social and structural drivers of HIV, TB
and STIs, and link these efforts to the NDP;
5.	Ground the response to HIV, TB and STIs in human
rights principles and approaches;
6.	Promote leadership and shared accountability for a
sustainable response to HIV, TB and STIs;
7.	Mobilise resources to support the achievement of
NSP goals and ensure a sustainable response;
8.	Strengthen strategic information to drive progress
towards achievement of the NSP goals.
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SANAC has been leading the response since 2000
following its establishment by Cabinet. Reaching the goals
and targets set forth in the NSP 2017-2022 will demand
continued strong coordination and collaboration by all of
SANAC in order to maximise the coherence and impact
of the efforts of diverse partners. There are a number of
structures within SANAC that comprise representatives
from government, civil society, the private sector, labour,
and business whose job it is to advise government on the
development and implementation of appropriate HIV, TB
and STI policies and programmes. These structures are
documented in the procedural guidelines which will be
reviewed to ensure that they are fully able to carry out the
mandates set by the NSP 2017-2022. In order to effectively
coordinate and monitor the NSP 2017-2022, all SANAC
structures will need to be revitalised and capacitated.
In particular, the capacity of the AIDS Councils needs to
be strengthened to contribute towards implementation
of the NSP and achievement of its goals and objectives.
Well-governed AIDS Councils also need to be in place from
national to district level.

Epidemiological Context
The HIV, TB and STI epidemics are characterised by
distinct sub-epidemics that are apparent geographically
and among key and vulnerable populations. South Africa
has an estimated 7.1 million people living with HIV (PLHIV).
Nearly 270 000 people were newly infected in 2016. This
reflects a prevalence rate of about 12.8% among the entire
population, or 19.1% among those aged 15-49 years. HIV
prevalence among pregnant women has hovered around
30%, but is closer to 50% in some districts. The successful
roll-out of antiretroviral therapy, thereby supporting
PLHIV to live longer, healthier lives, has resulted in a rising
prevalence over the recent years, even though the number
of people becoming infected annually has been dropping.
There is substantial variation in HIV by province, with
KwaZulu-Natal having the highest prevalence (18%),
followed by Mpumalanga (15%). The Northern Cape and
Western Cape have the lowest HIV prevalence, at 6.8% and
6.6% respectively. Young women aged 15 to 24 have the
highest HIV incidence of any age or sex cohort, at 2.01%
in 2015. Approximately 100 000 of the 270 0000 new
infections occurred among this population, and one third
of teenage girls became pregnant before the age of twenty.
HIV infection fuels the tuberculosis epidemic, with more
than 60% of patients being co-infected. There has been
a significant decline in TB as a cause of mortality (from
41 904 deaths in 2013, to 33 063 in 2015), even though
TB continues to be the leading cause of death in South
Africa, accounting for 8.4% of natural deaths in 2015.
Though mortality has decreased, the morbidity of TB
is stable. In 2015 the incidence of TB was 834 cases per
100 000, resulting in an estimated 450 000 new TB
infections. Treatment success is low and the TB prevalence
rate has barely changed since 2010.
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There is a wide variation in HIV and TB prevalence across
age, race, gender, socio-economic status and geographical
location. Certain populations are at higher risk of TB
infection and re-infection. These include people living with
HIV, household contacts of TB index patients, health care
workers, inmates, pregnant women, children under five
years old, diabetics, people living in informal settlements,
mine workers and peri-mining communities. These groups
are considered “key populations” for TB.
National programmatic data depicts a steady decline in
STI incidence from 11.2% in 1997 to 1.6% in 2011, however
one must be cognisant that the prevalence of STIs, which
is a co-factor in the acquisition for HIV, is still high in
many sectors of the population. Young women have STI
prevalence rates of 17-42% for chlamydia, 71% for HPV,
6.2% for syphilis, 10.9% for gonorrhoea and 42-47% for
bacterial vaginosis. More than a third of men who have sex
with men have reported STI symptoms. The prevalence
of HSV-2 infections among ante-natal women in Gauteng,
KwaZulu-Natal, the Northern Cape and the Western Cape
was 55.8% in 2012. Syphilis prevalence among sex workers
was 19.6% in Cape Town and 16.2% in Johannesburg.

The NSP is a clear demonstration
of the outstanding progress
we have made. It is also a stark
reminder of how far we still need
to go. Importantly, it provides
an excellent illustration of what
South Africans can achieve when
working together towards the
realisation of a shared objective.
The Plan significantly increases the country focus on
prevention, treatment uptake, coverage and adherence,
and ending discrimination and stigmatisation. At the same
time, it recognises the need to direct specific programmes
to those areas of the country with the highest burden
and to those key and vulnerable populations that are
disproportionately affected.
To maximise the impact of efforts, there will be greater
focus on primary prevention and on strategies to address
the social and structural drivers of the three epidemics
in a thoroughly multi-sectoral manner. South Africa’s
recent success in scaling up prevention and treatment
programmes will be complemented by an equivalent
focus on improving service quality and on reducing
loss to follow-up among people who initiate care, while
simultaneously implementing the new “test and treat”
policy. Recognising that different people require different
prevention approaches, differentiated care models will be
scaled up to tailor interventions to each person’s needs,
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including enhanced use of proven community-centred
service delivery. Priority is given to ensuring that treatment
programmes are holistic - addressing each person’s health
needs, including co-morbidities. The need for innovative
new sources of funding is identified. A higher priority is
placed on the collection and timely use of high-quality data
to guide and inform programmes and policies.

Political and Policy Context
There is a very high level of political commitment to
tackling HIV and TB in South Africa and much consensus
on the approach. This consensus is largely captured in
the NSP 2017-2022. The commitment of government is
reflected in the elevation of the AIDS and TB portfolio to
the office of the Deputy President who is the chairperson,
founder and custodian of SANAC. There is also a high level
of commitment to tackling AIDS and TB by a number of
provincial Premiers. The Minister of Health has made HIV
and TB his highest priority and the Treasury has shown its
commitment by consistently increasing its allocations to
the HIV conditional grant and the antiretroviral treatment
programmes in particular.

These objectives highlight the
prioritisation of prevention
specific to HIV and are
representative of a more
comprehensive approach to
tackling HIV and related issues.
South Africa made a separate public commitment to
prevention among its most vulnerable populations by
signing the United Nations ‘Political Declaration on HIV
and AIDS: Intensifying our Efforts to Eliminate HIV and
AIDS’ in June 2011. This declaration explicitly outlined
commitments for all UN member states to address the
inadequacy of HIV prevention strategies by focusing on
men who have sex with men (MSM), injecting drug users
(IDU), and sex workers (SW), and improving access to
HIV prevention, treatment, care and support services for
migrant populations. In March 2016, the Deputy President
launched the South African National Sex Worker HIV Plan,
2016-2019, to address the needs through a comprehensive
standardised package of services. This was followed by
the National She Conquers Campaign for adolescent girls
and young women in June 2016, and on 31 March 2017, he
launched the country’s 4th National Strategic Plan for HIV,
TB and STIs 2017-2022.

Economic Context
According to the South African HIV and TB investment
cases, early additional cash investments in HIV and TB
will reduce longer-term health consequences and costs,
but sustained financing will be required. The investment
cases identified strategies to maximise economic returns

from investments and minimise long-term costs, including
scaling up evidence-based interventions in the short-term,
allocating resources towards high impact interventions
and delivering services more efficiently.

Total financing from public
sources for HIV, TB and STI
programmes as well as for
interventions addressing social
and structural drivers of the
three epidemics was estimated
at approximately R22.1 billion in
2016/17.
Significantly, Government has increased its health
allocations for HIV and TB over the 2017/18 MediumTerm Expenditure Framework (MTEF) period by
R1.7 billion, despite tight fiscal constraints and general
budget reduction. According to the most recent national
budget, public funding for HIV, TB and other programmes
that directly support the NSP will increase to R30.1 billion
per annum by 2019/20.
Overall, the South African Government has committed
R78.2 billion over the 2017/18-2019/2020 MTEF period
for HIV, TB and STI programmes which increases to
R82.6 billion for the three-year period, after the inclusion
of the budget estimates for social and structural drivers.
Regarding external sources of funding, development
partners committed approximately R5.3 billion directly
to the national response in 2016/17. Another R1. 4 billion
was paid by voluntary medical insurance for private
ART patients. PEPFAR has increased its HIV and TB
commitments to South Africa in its most recent country
operational plan (COP17) to US$535 million from
US$443 million in 2016/17. The Global Fund allocated
US$312 million for HIV and TB programming in South
Africa for the period 2016/17 to 2018/19, and recently
gave an indicative allocation of another US$353 million for
the three-year funding cycle thereafter.
Based on global modelling by UNAIDS, investing around a
quarter of total HIV/AIDS resources into prevention services
is optimal. However, globally, we are not moving in the right
direction. As a proportion of total spending, investments in
prevention have fallen from 2008 to 2013, and most sharply
in low-income countries. In upper-middle income countries
such as South Africa, prevention spending fell from 20%
in 2008 to 18% in 2013. According to modelling from
the South African Investment Case (published in March
2016), South Africa invests approximately 21% of total
HIV/AIDS resources in prevention efforts. This is closer
than other countries of similar income status to the 25%
recommended by UNAIDS.
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Figure 1: HIV/AIDS spending dedicated to Prevention

% of total HIV/AIDS spending dedicated to Prevention

18%

18%

Average Among
Middle-Income
Countries
(2013)1

South Africa
(2013)2

Table 1: A
 pproximate breakdown of spending on HIV Prevention Interventions by Investment Case programme
areas (2013)

Spending on
HIV Prevention
Interventions

HIV Counselling and Testing

(6.4%)

Medical male circumcision

(3.2%)

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission

(3%)

Other biomedical prevention3

(1%)

Key populations
Comprehensive condom programming

(1%)

Social and Behavioural Change Communication

(2%)

South Africa is spending about the same percentage of
total HIV funds on prevention as other middle-income
countries, but we are still not spending a large enough
proportion. At ~18% for prevention, we are shy of the 26%
suggested by UNAIDS to reach the Fast-Track targets.
The Investment Case shows that there are allocative
efficiencies to be gained within South Africa’s HIV
spending. These largely point towards the need to increase
proportional spending on prevention interventions.
Specifically, allocative efficiencies can be realised by
spending proportionally more on medical male circumcision and HIV counselling and testing and proportionally
less on ART, in-patient care and PMTCT. Specifically,
comparing proportional spending from baseline 2014
with the most cost-effective package of interventions to
achieve the 90-90-90 targets, proportional spending on
medical male circumcision should double, and proportional
spending on HIV counselling and testing should triple.

Social Context
The social and structural context in which the epidemics
of HIV and TB occur is continually evolving, shaping

the manner in which these epidemics are unfolding. As
highlighted in the National Development Plan (NDP),
South Africa currently confronts the linked challenges of
poverty, inequality and long-term unemployment, with
especially high jobless rates among young people. Under
the Medium-term Strategic Framework (MTSF) 20142019, the country has prioritised national action to address
these interrelated challenges to national wellbeing.
Social and structural factors such as poverty, inequality,
inadequate access to quality education, poor nutrition,
migration, gender inequality, gender-based violence, and
alcohol and drug use increase vulnerability to HIV, TB and
STIs. These factors impact on health seeking behaviours
and adherence to prescribed regimes. The poorest 40%
of the population bears 65% of the TB burden, and
people with lower socio-economic status also experience
the greatest barriers to accessing health care. Lower
income households are more vulnerable to economic
shocks generally as well as those associated with HIV,
TB or other chronic diseases. The physical environment
– the availability of safe and secure housing with good
ventilation; the number of people in the household; the
spatial location and distribution of health services; and

1. UNAIDS (2015). How AIDS Changed Everything. Page 188.
2. Estimated based on Spending Reported in South African Investment Case (March 2016) Page 59 of Full Report.
3. Including PEP, PrEP, STI treatment and microbicides.
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access to and type of transportation – also has a powerful
impact on the risks of disease acquisition or transmission,
as well as on access to health services.
The 2012 HSRC survey illustrates the links between HIV
prevalence, race and locality type with HIV prevalence
being overall highest among black Africans at 20.8% in
formal rural areas, 20.4% in informal urban areas, 15.0%
in formal urban areas and 13.4% in informal rural areas.
HIV incidence among the population as a whole, aged
two years and older, is highest in informal urban areas at
2.46%, followed by formal urban areas (1.06%), informal
rural areas (0.87%) and rural formal areas (0.84%).
Gender-based violence continues to impact on HIV and
STI risk. In the 2016/17 year, the Justice, Crime Prevention
and Security Cluster was reviewing the national policy
framework for sexual offences, with one of its aims
being to bolster prevention of sexual violence, including
through public education and communication. In addition,
actions are envisaged to enable inter-sectoral planning
and integrated service delivery for women, especially
at community level, and to achieve more resilient social
systems and strengthened service delivery systems.
The harmful use of alcohol and drugs continues to ravage
families, communities and society with youth being
particularly hard hit. This leads directly to HIV and STIs
arising from risky sex and needle injection, and indirectly
through exacerbating gender-based violence, longterm unemployment, dropping out of school and being
ostracised from families and communities.

Human Rights Context
South Africa’s legal framework is guided by a progressive
Constitution and Bill of Rights, which guarantees a broad
range of civil, political, cultural and socio-economic rights.
This includes the rights to equality and non-discrimination,
privacy, dignity, freedom and security of a person, access
to health care and access to justice. The Government of
South Africa has also signed the International Covenant
on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR). The
Government has reaffirmed its commitment to achieving
socio-economic justice in South Africa. Accession to
the ICESCR also provides enhanced opportunities
for citizens to shape dialogue and actions around
the realisation of socio-economic and cultural rights.
Accession also strengthens Government’s ability to play
a meaningful role as one of the key advocates for social,
economic and cultural rights in the international arena.
According to the 2013 HIV and TB review, South Africa’s
interventions and policies respect human rights in their
conceptualisation and implementation. It was found
that HIV Testing Services (HTS) were taking place with
informed consent, PLHIV eligible for ART were referred
appropriately, patients with drug-resistant TB were
managed as per guidelines, women were not denied their
sexual and reproductive health, and rape survivors were
provided with appropriate post-exposure prophylaxis
(PEP) services.

Health care guidelines and policies follow a rightsbased approach, and there are examples of provision
for rights-based responses such as prevention of
stigma and discrimination campaigns, provision of
human rights training, and improving enforcement of
rights in programmatic responses for vulnerable and
key populations. There is also a strong commitment to
addressing gender-based violence (GBV) and ensuring
women and girls have access to health and legal services
following sexual violence. SANAC has made progress
in setting up systems to ensure effective monitoring of
human rights abuses and increasing access to justice.
There is a long list of legal precedents in South Africa that
relate to the protection of patient rights. A number of these
judgements have been made in the Constitutional Court.

The SANAC Secretariat has
established a partnership
with Legal AID South Africa
to provide legal and paralegal
support for any member of
the public experiencing HIV
discrimination. Hundreds of
cases have already been fielded
through this service.
The SAHRC (2012) Equality Report and the Equality
Roundtable Dialogue Report of 2015 noted ongoing
concerns regarding the rights of LGBTI populations,
persons with disabilities and the achievement of gender
equality.
National population-based surveys have shown low levels
of stigma-related attitudes among the general population.
For example, the National Communication Survey found
that 87% of respondents would remain friends with a
person who was known to be HIV positive, while 16%
said they would be embarrassed to be seen with a person
known to have HIV.
The perspectives of 10 000 PLHIV were explored through
a National Stigma Index Survey carried out in 2014. This
found that 36% of PLHIV had experienced some form of
external stigma and discrimination and 43% some form of
internal stigma respectively. Experiences of most formats
of external stigma were low. For example, 90% of PLHIV
reported that they had not been excluded from social
events, 92% reported never having been excluded from
family activities and 96% had not been excluded from
religious activities. Some experiences of social exclusion
were attributed to reasons unrelated to HIV status.
TB-related stigma and discrimination was more common
among PLHIV with TB than HIV-related stigma, with
experiences in the past 12 months including being gossiped
about (41%) and being teased, insulted or sworn at (36%).
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VISION
To have a South Africa free from the burden of HIV, TB and Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs).

MISSION
To build a credible Secretariat that leads the effective implementation of the National Strategic Plan
(NSP) through superb execution and coordination of government, civil society and the private sector.
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LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES
Overarching Mandate

TR 29.2. S
 hareholder’s compact concluded with Executive
Authority.

• South African National AIDS Council Trust Deed
The Trust Deed states the objects of the Trust.

PFMA 53 A
 nnual budgets by non-business Schedule 3
public entities submitted to Executive Authority.

• National Strategic Plan for HIV, STIs and TB

TR 30.1 Strategic Plan submitted to Executive Authority.

The object of the Trust stipulates that the overall
mandate of the Trust is to coordinate and support the
implementation of the NSP.

Instead, the Trust will submit budgets, strategic plans and
annual performance plans to the Board of Trustees for
approval.

Other legislative, functional and policy mandates

MANAGEMENT OF WORKING CAPITAL

PFMA and Treasury Regulations

PFMA 38.1(j) G
 eneral responsibilities of accounting
officers - financial management and internal
controls assurance submitted to transferring
department.

To clarify Section 7.5 of the Trust Deed as stated below as
concerning the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
and the Treasury Regulations (TR) requirements

TR 29.1.3 Borrowing programme, and

‘Section 7.5 The Trust should endeavour to operate and
be audited, as far as is possible, in accordance with the
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act
(PFMA) and the Treasury Regulations (TR); subject to the
right of the Trustees to exempt the Trust from compliance
with overly onerous provisions.’
SANAC Trust will comply with the PFMA and Treasury
regulations as if it is a Schedule 3(A) public entity as
defined in the PFMA, with the exemption of those sections
of the PFMA and TR that will not be applicable to SANAC
TRUST as mentioned below:
CORPORATE MANAGEMENT
TR 33.2.1 Investigation of alleged financial misconduct
reported to Executive Authority.
TR 33.3.1 C
riminal proceedings reported to Executive
Authority.
The Trust does not have an executive authority as defined
in the PFMA. Instead, the Trust will report any such issues
to the Board of Trustees and external auditor, AuditorGeneral.
PLANNING AND BUDGETING
PFMA 52 A
 nnual budget, corporate plan and shareholder’s
compact by Schedule 2 public entities and
government business enterprises submitted to
Treasury.

TR 29.1.6 b
 orrowing programme contents submitted to
Treasury.
 orrow money for bridging purposes with the
TR 32.1 B
approval of the Minister of Finance.
The Trust is not expected to borrow, so this is unlikely to
be a problem.
REPORTING
TR 26.1 Responsibilities of designated accounting officers,
over Schedule 3A and 3C public entities to report quarterly
to Executive Authority.
TR 29.3.1 Q
 uarterly Reporting on progress against targets
in corporate and strategic plans
TR 30.2.1 to Executive Authority.
PFMA 54 Information to be submitted by accounting
authorities to Treasury for: establishment
of a company; participation in a significant
partnership, trust, unincorporated joint venture
or similar arrangement; acquisition or disposal
of a significant shareholding in a company;
acquisition or disposal of a significant asset;
commencement or cessation of a significant
business activity; and a significant change in the
nature or extent of its interest in a significant
partnership, trust, unincorporated joint venture
or similar arrangement.
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PFMA 55.1 A
 nnual report and financial statements too
be submitted to Treasury and Executive
Authority.
PFMA 65 Tabling in legislatures.
 ublic-private partnerships to have prior written
TR 16.3.1/ P
approval of the Treasury.
TR 16.5.1/
TR 16.6.1
The Trust will however publish it annual report on its
website and will deliver copies to donors and (government
and non-governmental) stakeholders. Reporting to the
Treasury is not possible as the Trust is not recognised by
them as a public entity, and all reporting will be done to the
Board of Trustees.
CASH MANAGEMENT, BANKING AND INVESTMENT
ubmission to Treasury details of banking
TR 31.2.1 S
accounts.
All bank accounts are approved by the Board of Trustees.

Irregular Expenditure
The definition by the Treasury of Irregular Expenditure is
‘transgression of a provision contained in any applicable
legislation which shall include: (a) the PFMA; (b) the

11

Treasury Regulation.’ This will include transgression of
procurement procedures.
During the current year there was one such transgression
where the Deviation request that was for a legitimate
purpose had been prepared, but the signed version
was misfiled and could not be found. The consultant
concerned was a unique specialist working on the Stigma
Reduction model and had already commenced the project
funded by the Aids Consortium. Due to insufficient funding
the project was then taken over by SANAC Trust funded
by CDC. As the signed document could not be found,
the provisions had not been complied with resulting in
irregular expenditure of R185 000.

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
The definition from the PFMA for fruitless and wasteful
expenditure is ‘expenditure which was made in vain and
would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised’.
During the reporting period there was fruitless and
wasteful expenditure recorded of R145 491 for conference
facilities for a postponed CCM meeting. The meeting was
scheduled, conference facilities booked and a deposit
paid, to take place after the previous CEO had completed
his contract and was unable to attend to chair the meeting.
The Acting CEO was appointed and the meeting took place
at a later date, though the deposit had to be forfeited.
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The following Acts of Parliament are pertinent
to the functions of the SANAC Trust:

must comply with in order to create a safe working
environment for employees.

• T
 he Trust Property Control Act No. 57 of 1988:
Provides for control of trust property and for matters
connected thereto.

• P
 romotion of Equality and the Prevention of Unfair
Discrimination Act No. 4 of 2000: Provides for the
further amplification of the Constitutional principles of
equality and elimination of unfair discrimination.

• B
 asic Conditions of Employment Act No. 75 of 1997:
Provides for the minimum conditions of employment
that employers must comply with in the workplace.
 hild Care Act No. 74 of 1983: Provides for the
• C
protection of the rights and well-being of children.
• C
 ompensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases
Act No. 130 of 1993: Provides for compensation for
disability caused by occupational injuries or diseases
sustained or contracted by employees in the course of
their employment, and for death resulting from such
injuries or disease.
• C
 onventional Penalties Act No. 15 of 1962: Provides
for the enforceability of penal provisions in contracts.
 esigns Act No. 195 of 1993: Provides for the
• D
registration of designs and matters incidental thereto.
• E
 mployment Equity Act No. 55 of 1998: Provides
for the measures that must be put into operation in
the workplace in order to eliminate discrimination and
promote affirmative action.
 abour Relations Act No. 66 of 1996: Regulates the
• L
rights of workers, employers and trade unions.
 ccupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 of
• O
1993: Provides for the requirements that employers

 rotected Disclosures Act No. 26 of 2000: Provides
• P
for the protection of whistle-blowers in the fight against
corruption.
• P
 ublic Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999:
Provides for the administration of State funds by
functionaries, their responsibilities and incidental
matters.
 kills Development Act No. 97 of 1998: Provides for
• S
the measures that employers are required to take to
improve the skills levels of employees.
 he Copyright Act No. 98 of 1998: Provides for the
• T
protection of intellectual property of a literary, artistic
or musical nature that is reduced to writing.
• T
 he Merchandise Marks Act No. 17 of 1941: Provides
for the covering and marking of merchandise and
incidental matters.
• T
 rade Marks Act No. 194 of 1993: Provides for the
registration of trademarks, certification and collective
trademarks and matters incidental, thereto.
 nemployment Insurance Contributions Act No.
• U
4 of 2002: Provides for the statutory deduction that
employers are required to make from the salaries of
employees.
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The organogram below reflects the organisational structure during the reporting period.
Figure 2: The SANAC Trust Organisational Structure

Board of Trustees
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Committee

Audit & Risk Comittee

CEO
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PART A: GENERAL INFORMATION

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON
OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
When Deputy President Cyril Ramaphosa
launched the National Strategic Plan
for HIV, TB and STIs 2017-2022 in
March 2017, a great responsibility was
placed on SANAC, the SANAC Trust and
the Secretariat. That responsibility is to
coordinate all the efforts of the country
to ensure that we respond efficiently and
effectively to HIV, tuberculosis (TB) and
sexually transmitted infections (STIs).
It is also important to acknowledge
the tremendous progress made in
the previous NSP 2012-2016. We
are grateful for the support received
from development partners (WHO,
UNAIDS, Gates Foundation) towards
the development of this NSP and the
Trustees will continue to support the
work of the Secretariat towards the
implementation of the NSP.
Since the appointment of new Trustees in the last quarter
of 2015, the Trustees and their sub-committees (an Audit
and Risk Committee, and a Remuneration Committee)
have worked hard to ensure that the Trust fulfilled its
fiduciary and governance responsibilities. An external
audit of the 2016 financial year has been carried out
and yielded an unqualified audit opinion. This gives the
Trustees confidence in the administration of the Trust.
A key responsibility of the Secretariat is to raise additional
funds for the Trust. In this respect, the Secretariat
must be congratulated on increasing the Government’s
contribution towards core funding through the National
Department of Health and the Department of Social
Development.
The SANAC Trust continued to support the Deputy
President in his role as Chairperson of the South African

National AIDS Council which is the
body that brings together government,
civil society, the private sector and
development partners to discuss
policies and monitor the progress of
the HIV, TB and STI response in South
Africa.
Dr Gwen Ramokgopa (Chair), Pholokgolo
Ramothwala and Mtheto Tshemese
have resigned as Trustees and we
are grateful for their contribution and
diligent oversight during their tenure.
The Trustees would also like to thank
former CEO Dr Fareed Abdullah for the
role played in laying the foundation for
the fulfilment of the Trust mandate
during his five-year tenure as SANAC CEO.
On behalf of my fellow Trustees, I would like to give the
Deputy President and the public of South Africa the
assurance that there is good corporate governance of the
Trust and the objectives of the Trust are being met to the
extent that available finances permit.

Dr A Ntsaluba
CHAIRPERSON OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL
AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

12 December 2017
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S OVERVIEW
The SANAC Secretariat was established
by the SANAC Trust and became
operational as an independent institution
on 1 April 2012. This Annual Report
covers the fifth year of the operation
of the Secretariat covering the period 1
April 2016 through 31 March 2017.
Fundraising remains one of the most
important objectives of the management
team. The team has exceeded the
targets of R69 million (with an additional
R12.5 million for the NSP development)
and five diversified sources of funds.
Designated grants of R49 million were
raised and utilised during the year
from six sources, with an additional
R74 million of designated funds raised with
the income deferred for the following year.
The core activities of the Secretariat grew and became
more effective during the year under review. The clear
highlight of the year was the finalisation and launch of
the National Strategic Plan (2017-2022) on 31 March
2017. The SANAC Trust and the management team are
now ready to graduate to the next stage of scaling up our
support for the implementation of the National Strategic
Plan. Coordination should extend to operational planning
with targets being set for departments, provinces, donors
and the private sector. Coordination should extend to
programmes that are dependent on multiple departments
for success. Support should extend to technical assistance
programmes for national departments, provinces, NGOs
and the private sector. Monitoring and evaluation should
also extend to government and non-government sectors.
Smart choices will need to be made about what might
be the most effective ways of doing this. Once priorities
have been determined the management team should set
ambitious targets for additional fund raising from the
Treasury and external donors both for the Trust needs
and the broader needs of departments and agencies
implementing the NSP.
The Secretariat has led the charge in addressing HIV
prevention in young women aged 15 to 24. Notably the
National Young Women’s campaign and the DREAMS
(Determined, Resilient, Empowered, Aids Free Mentored
and Safe) project, which both started on 1 April 2016.
DREAMS is implemented in five districts of Gauteng and
KwaZulu-Natal and the Young Women’s campaign in 10
districts funded by the Global Fund. In 2016 we put the
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plight of young women on the map like
never before. The SANAC Secretariat
actively participated in the development
and launch of the national She Conquers
campaign for adolescent girls and young
women. She Conquers was launched
in June 2016 by the Deputy President
of South Africa Cyril Ramaphosa, with
a commitment from Government to
prioritise adolescent girls and young
women in the HIV response.
We have progressed with our work with
key populations, especially sex workers,
MSM and LGBTI communities. During
this period, the Secretariat finalised
the development of the national
LGBTI Framework. This framework was presented at the
International AIDS conference after which final comments
were considered and the document was finalised and
presented to the SANAC Programme Review Committee
(PRC) and SANAC Plenary.
This year, events such as the International AIDS
Conference proved to be an opportunity for South Africa
to inform the world of the tremendous progress that has
been made since the last conference in the country in
2000. It was also an important opportunity to put SANAC
on the domestic and global map through multiple activities
in the formal programme as well as the parallel meetings,
global village and satellite sessions. SANAC also used the
conference to bring back the AIDS quilt project, which was
a huge success and received a significant amount of media
coverage. One of the quilts was donated to United Nations
Secretary-General, Ban Ki-moon and UNAIDS Executive
Director Michel Sidibé
I am heartened by the successes and growth over the past
few years and the support we enjoy from Government, the
donor community and the private sector is testament to
this work.

Dr Connie Kganakga
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

12 December 2017
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY
FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the
following:
All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report
are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements
audited by the external auditors, ARC Inc. The annual report
is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions.
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared
in accordance with the IFRS standards applicable to the
entity.
The Board of Trustees are responsible for the preparation
of the Annual Financial Statements and for the judgements
made in this information.

The Board of Trustees are responsible for establishing,
and implementing a system of internal control that has
been designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the
integrity and reliability of the performance information,
the human resources information and the annual financial
statements.
The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.
In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the
operations, the performance information, the human
resources information and the financial affairs of the entity
for the financial year ended 31 March 2017.

Dr Connie Kganakga

Dr Ayanda Ntsaluba

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

12 December 2017

12 December 2017
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ARC INC’S REPORT:
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
Independent Assurance Report on
Selected Performance Indicators
We have undertaken a limited assurance engagement on
selected performance indicators, as described below, and
presented in the 2016-17 Annual Report of the South African
National AIDS Council (SANAC) Trust for the year ended 31
March 2017 (the Report).
Selected Programmes

Programme 3: NSP
Implementation

Programme 4: Monitoring
and Evaluation

Programme 5: Donor
Co-ordination

Programme 6: SANAC
Meetings

Subject Matter
We are required to provide limited assurance on the following
performance indicators, prepared in accordance with the
2016-17 Annual Performance Plan (APP), Technical Indicator
Descriptions as published in the APP as well as any internally
generated policies and procedures where necessary.

Selected Performance indicators

Page

Report with recommendations prepared for consideration for PRC

26

NSP document prepared and submitted to SANAC Plenary

26

Launch NSP 2017-2022 on World AIDS Day

26

Launch of young women and girls national campaign

26

HOS meeting to discuss implementation of the strategy

26

Annual M&E Report completed

31

Quantitative Report (GARPR data)

31

Number of PCAs with annual M&E reports

31

Number of effective CCM meetings held

35

Funds disbursed by the Principal Recipients by the Global Fund

35

Oversight committee reports submitted to the CCM

35

Number of costing TTT reports published

35

Number of Plenary meetings held

36

Number of CSF meetings held

36

Number of PRC meetings held

36
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Trustees’ Responsibilities
The trustees are responsible for the selection, preparation
and presentation of the performance indicators in
accordance with the 2016-17 APP, Technical Indicator
Descriptions as published in the APP as well as any internally
generated policies and procedures where necessary. This
responsibility includes the identification of stakeholders and
stakeholder requirements, material issues, commitments
with respect to sustainability performance and for the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation of the Report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our Independence and Quality Control
We have complied with the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants and the Code of Professional
Conduct for Registered Auditors issued by the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors, which includes independence
and other requirements founded on fundamental principles
of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due
care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.
ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors Incorporated
applies the International Standard on Quality Control 1 and
accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quality
control including documented policies and procedures
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Our Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance
conclusion on the selected performance indicators based
on the procedures we have performed and the evidence
we have obtained. We conducted our limited assurance
engagement in accordance with the International Standard
on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised),
Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information, issued by the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That Standard
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requires that we plan and perform our engagement to obtain
limited assurance about whether the selected performance
indicators are free from material misstatement.
A limited assurance engagement undertaken in accordance
with ISAE 3000 (Revised) involves assessing the suitability
in the circumstances of the trust’s use of the 2016-17 APP
as the basis of preparation for the selected performance
indicators, assessing the risks of material misstatement of
the selected performance indicators whether due to fraud
or error, responding to the assessed risks as necessary in
the circumstances, and evaluating the overall presentation
of the selected performance indicators. A limited assurance
engagement is substantially less in scope than a reasonable
assurance engagement in relation to both risk assessment
procedures, including an understanding of internal control,
and the procedures performed in response to the assessed
risks. The procedures we performed were based on our
professional judgement and included inquiries, observation
of processes performed, inspection of documents, analytical
procedures, evaluating the appropriateness of quantification
methods and reporting policies, and agreeing or reconciling
with underlying records.
Given the circumstances of the engagement, in performing
the procedures listed above we:
Obtained an understanding of:
–– the entity and its environment;
–– entity-level controls;
–– t he significant reporting processes including how
information is initiated, recorded, processed,
reported and incorrect information is corrected,
as well as the policies and procedures within the
reporting process.
• Interviewed

management, employees and those
responsible for the preparation of the Report and
the selected actual performance, as we consider
necessary.
• I nspected relevant supporting documentation
and obtained such external confirmations and
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management representations as we considered
necessary for the purposes of our engagement.
• P
 erformed analytical procedures and limited tests
of detail responsive to our risk assessment and the
level of assurance required, including comparison of
judgmentally selected information to the underlying
source documentation from which the information has
been derived.
The procedures performed in a limited assurance
engagement vary in nature from, and are less in extent than
for, a reasonable assurance engagement. As a result the level
of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement
is substantially lower than the assurance that would have
been obtained had we performed a reasonable assurance
engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable
assurance opinion about whether the trust’s selected
performance indicators have been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the 2016-17 APP, Technical
Indicator Descriptions as published in the APP as well as
any internally generated policies and procedures where
necessary.

Other Matters
Our report does not extend to any disclosures or assertions
relating to future performance plans and / or strategies
disclosed in the Report.
The maintenance and integrity of the SANAC trust website
is the responsibility of the trust’s management. Our
procedures did not involve consideration of these matters
and, accordingly we accept no responsibility for any changes
to either the information in the Report or our independent
assurance report that may have occurred since the initial
date of presentation on the SANAC trust website.

Restriction of Liability
Our work has been undertaken to enable us to express a
limited assurance conclusion on the selected performance
indicators to the trustees of SANAC trust in accordance with
the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not accept or assume liability to any party other
than SANAC trust, for our work, for this report, or for the
conclusion we have reached.

Limited Assurance Conclusion
Based on the procedures we have performed and the
evidence we have obtained, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that:
 he selected performance indicators as set out in the
• T
subject matter paragraph for the year ended 31 March
2017 are not prepared and presented, in all material
respects, in accordance with the 2016-17 APP and related
Technical Indicator Descriptions included in the APP.
• T
 he actual performance reported for the selected
performance indicators as set out in the subject matter
paragraph does not reflect the performance of the trust
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors Incorporated,
Registered Chartered Accountants and Auditors (SA)
Per: F. van Heerden CA(SA)/RA
Associate
Registered Auditor

12 December 2017
1st Floor, Unit 5
299 Pendoring Avenue
Blackheath Ext. 6
2195
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
Programme 1: Governance and
Administration
Introduction
The organisation and participation for the International
AIDS Conference (AIDS 2016) held in Durban was a major
activity at the start of the financial year. The next major
focus for the year was the development of the NSP 20172022 that involved the whole Secretariat with assistance
from partners. The deadline for presentation of the NSP
2017-2022 of World Aids Day 1 December 2016 was
extended to 31 March 2017, with resulting cost implications
and dedication by the Secretariat. This continued with the
assistance to provinces on the development of Provincial
Implementation Plans.
A major change in the governance of the Trust occurred
with the CEO, Dr Fareed Abdullah completing his fixed
term contract on 31 January 2017 and being replaced by
Dr Connie Kganakga in the capacity of Acting CEO.

Governance by Trustees

exception of the one resignation - have been submitted to
the Master of the High Court for registration, though the
Letter of Authority to act as trustees is still in progress at
the date of publication.
Mr Yacoob Abba Omar

appointed June 2017

Ms Criselda Dudumashe

appointed June 2017,
resigned Nov 2017

Ms Esther Letlape

appointed June 2017

Ms Grathel Motau

appointed June 2017

Ms Andile Mthombeni

appointed June 2017

The SANAC Trustees met four times during the financial
year. The Trust is fully compliant with all legislative
requirements.
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) met five times
during the year and consisted of the following members,
in alphabetical order:
Dr Brian Brink

The previously appointed Board of Trustees from the
preceding financial year continued to serve as follows, in
alphabetical order:

Commissioner Sheila Khama
Ms Monique Malan

appointed Jan 2016

Ms Mmapaseka Letsike

appointed Sept 2013

Professor Koleka Mlisana

appointed Jan 2016

Dr Ayanda Ntsaluba
Chairperson from June 2017

appointed Sept 2013

Ms Thandi Orleyn

appointed Jan 2016

Dr Yogan Pillay

appointed Jan 2016

Dr Gwen Ramokgopa
Chairperson to May 2017

appointed Jan 2016,
resigned July 2017

Mr Pholokgolo Ramothwala

appointed Jan 2016,
resigned July 2017

Mr Mthetho Tshemese

appointed Jan 2016,
resigned July 2017

Mr Mluleki Zazini

appointed Jan 2016

Where indicated, the trustee resigned after the financial
year-end.
The following new trustees listed below were appointed
in the new financial year. Their appointments - with the

21

Chairperson

Ms Thembeka Mthethwa
Mr Pholokgolo Ramothwala

Commissioner Sheila Khama

Trustee

Trustee

The Remuneration Committee (Remco) met four times
during the year, and additional times to consider the
appointment of the CEO and consisted of the following
members, in alphabetical order:
Dr Fareed Abdullah
Dr Ayanda Ntsaluba
Mr Mthetho Tshemese
Mr Mluleki Zazini

Chairperson

The Governance and Strategic Risk Committee met twice
during the year and consisted of the following members, in
alphabetical order:
Dr Fareed Abdullah
Professor Koleka Mlisana
Ms Thandi Orleyn
Dr Yogan Pillay
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On the recommendation of the Treasury and the Deputy
Presidency, the Government Technical Advice Committee
(GTAC) completed an investigation into the legal structure
and funding for the SANAC Secretariat. The GTAC report
was reviewed by the Governance and Strategic Risk
Committee, and the report taken to the Board of Trustees
meeting on 11 August 2016. The recommendation of the
report was that the SANAC Trust model be retained, and
the SANAC Secretariat should consolidate and build on
the foundation it had laid since the 2012 restructuring,
with some specific guidance provided.
All Committees are functional and have approved terms
of reference.

Financial Management

External Audit
The external auditor ARC Inc. has continued for the
2016/2017 financial year. The audit opinion this year is the
SANAC Trust’s fifth consecutive unqualified audit report.
The Board of Trustees approved the audited financial
statements at the meeting held on 13 December 2017.
Interest and VAT
The Trust has continued to optimise its returns on
investments without putting funds at risk, and through
adhering to the Investment Policy. The Trust submits VAT
returns on a monthly basis allowing the Trust to claim
back VAT from SARS.
Income

Internal Audit
New Internal Auditors were appointed from September
2016 and internal audit reviews completed for HR,
Procurement, and Operational Review, and reported to
the ARC.

There has been significant growth of annual income
increasing to R66 million (2016 R44 million) that can be
attributed to the new funding from the Department of
Social Development of R14.5 million for social behaviour
change communication and a contribution from the
Global Fund of R8 million towards the NSP 2017-22
development process and CCM support, together with the
continued funding from CDC of R19 million and Deutsche
Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH
(GIZ) R5.6 million, and investment income of R3 million.
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Fundraising
Fundraising remains one of the most important objectives
of the management team. The team has exceeded the
target of R69 million (with an additional R12.5 million
for the NSP development) and five diversified sources
of funds. Designated grants of R49 million were raised
and utilised during the year from six sources, with an
additional R74 million of designated funds raised with the
income deferred for the following year. Together with CDC
additional funding was approved to complete the DREAMS
project in the 2017/2018 financial year.
Funding proposals have been submitted to the Lotteries
Fund (for the HCT and Stigma campaigns) that was only
approved in the following financial year 2017/18. Funding

Strategic objective

Ensure the effective
functioning of the trust
according to the prescripts
of the trust deed and
appropriate legislation

Performance Indicator
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Expenditure
Year to date expenditure stands at R71.4 million at the end
of the financial year resulting in a deficit of R2.5 million
that was funded from reserves.
The Treasury will continue to work with the Board
of Trustees and the management team to develop
recommendations for the Ministers of Health and Finance,
and the Deputy President to address the long-term
sustainability of the SANAC Secretariat and the Trust.
Annual
Target

Achievement Commens on variance

Number of effective board of
trustees meetings

4

4

Number of effective meetings of
the audit and risk committee

4

4

Type of audit opinion by external
auditor

1 Unqualified
report

1 Unqualified
report

Number of effective meetings of
the remuneration committee

2

2

R69 million

R65,776,522

Fundraising activities
stalled due to change
in management

8

Fundraising for NSP
development raised
additional
sources

Amount of funds raised
Raise funds to finance
activities of the SANAC
trust

proposals were submitted to PEPFAR for Key Populations,
to KfW for Orphans and Vulnerable children, and to the
Department of Science and Technology for a Social Impact
Bond, and to OSISA for Stigma.

Number of sources of income
(diversification)

5
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Programme 2: Communications
Digital Outreach
SANAC continued to see important growth in digital
engagement, due to a new, integrated editorial approach to
content development and curation across web, multimedia
and social media; and improved communication within
SANAC and with partner organisations and government
departments. The website is being more accurately
monitored and the number of page views now averages
30 000 a month. SANAC has created a YouTube channel
and plans to include more multimedia material, the first
of which was a video developed in partnership with GIZ
on the NSP and what it means for young South Africans.
In order to further expand SANAC’s digital audience,
partnerships will be established with existing platforms
and an advertising strategy will be developed.

International AIDS Conference
Another major achievement during this period was
SANAC’s role in forming a national communications task
team for the International AIDS Conference in July 2016.
The task team, comprising of the Presidency, the National
Department of Health (NDoH), and the Government
Communication Information Systems (GCIS), drafted
a national communication plan to guide and coordinate
Strategic objective

South Africa’s communication activities at the conference.
The task team rolled out a series of media engagements
and briefings prior to the event, resulting in increased HIV
coverage and improved visibility. SANAC, the Presidency
and the NDoH collaborated with the National Press Club
to conduct a media conference to launch our countdown
campaign. In addition, SABC, ENCA, ANN7 and CNBC
received thorough briefings and interviews prior to the
conference. This culminated in a five-day countdown
event across the country where South Africans were
invited to show their solidarity and support through
a range of activities that included releasing balloons,
hooting, flashing their vehicle lights and uploading their
photographs on social media.
During the conference, SANAC hosted five satellite
sessions and a press conference to announce the launch
of the NSP development process. Daily media updates and
advisories were disseminated through the GCIS media
network.
The Secretariat convened a national task team comprising
of representatives from civil society, government
departments and the business sector to develop a national
exhibition stand at the International AIDS Conference.
The exhibition stand was an opportunity to highlight the
remarkable journey of South Africa’s HIV and TB response
over the past 16 years.

Performance Indicator

Number of SANAC News editions published
Effectively and
efficiently coordinate the
implementation of the NSP
World AIDS Communication toolkits developed
and published on SANAC website
Exhibition at the AIDS Conference

Target

Achieved

6

5

1

1

1

1
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Two editions
combined
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The exhibition stand provided a visual account of South
Africa’s achievements in the HIV and AIDS response and
illustrated key milestones since the 13th International
AIDS Conference 2000 was held in Durban.

World AIDS Day 2016
The successful coordination and execution of World AIDS
Day 2016 was an important milestone. The main event
was held at Sinaba Stadium, Daveyton Township, in the
Ekurhuleni metro of Gauteng. The Secretariat co-chaired
the World AIDS Day 2016 Communication task team and
developed the theme “It is In Our Hands to End HIV and
TB”. A series of promotional materials was produced for
the campaign, which included a dynamic multimedia and
social media campaign involving local celebrities such as
Gerry Elsdon and Miss South Africa, Ntando Kunene. A
communication toolkit with information on how to use the
different materials during the campaign was also shared
with all stakeholders (government, private sector and civil
society). The toolkit can be viewed on the SANAC website.

National Strategic Plan
The Communications Unit led the development of the NSP
document’s corporate identity and look and feel including
the theme “Let Our Actions Count”. The final document
included a popular summary version, as well as a simplified
community brochure distributed at the launch in English
and Sesotho. An NSP presentation and messaging guide
were also developed to enhance the NSP and make
it more relevant to a wider audience. The design of
infographics and accompanying NSP champions resulted
in a more accessible and user-friendly document that is
now available on the SANAC website. For the successful
coordination and execution of the NSP launch event, the
Secretariat co-chaired the Communication task team and
enlisted the support of influential South Africans such as
Judge Edwin Cameron, Scandal actor Kagiso Modupe and
TB Ambassador Gerry Elsdon to participate in the launch
as NSP Ambassadors, with each personality discussing
one of the eight goals of the NSP that they identified with
and were passionate about.

Programme 3: NSP Implementation
Development of the National Strategic Plan
for HIV, TB and STIs 2017-2022
The SANAC Secretariat coordinated and managed broad
consultation towards the development of the NSP 20172022. The Secretariat managed a team of writers and
facilitated the meeting of a steering committee to guide
the development of the strategic plan. Members of the
Secretariat funded through this Cooperative Agreement
(CoAg) played a crucial technical and facilitation role in
the NSP 2017-2022 development. Staff were required to
facilitate, scribe and write reports on particular technical
areas and particular population groups. Particular areas
led by SANAC staff on this CoAg included prevention,
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focusing for impact, key populations, research, social and
structural drivers, and M&E.
The Secretariat also specifically supported the Women’s
sector to take a proactive approach to ensuring that
women’s voices and priorities from around the country
were documented and put forward for consideration in
the NSP. The sector conceptualised and hosted a twoday meeting where women representing all nine provinces
deliberated on the priorities for women.
The SANAC Secretariat has also provided technical and
financial support and will continue to provide support to
the Provincial Councils on AIDS to develop their provincial
implementation plans.

Support for the Provincial and Districts AIDS
Councils
The Provincial AIDS Councils (PCA) support remained
a key area for the NSP Coordination unit. Programmes
for PCA support included strengthening the capacity of
AIDS Councils at provincial and district levels. A National
Capacity Development Strategy and approach was
developed along with a toolkit and guidelines to support
the AIDS Councils Secretariats and will be rolled-out in
the next financial year. Through the support provided to
the Provincial Councils on AIDS, all provinces now have
functioning HIV/AIDS, TB and STI response coordination
structures though their functionality is at different levels.
Eight provinces have PCAs while the North West has its
own provincial arrangement through the Reconciliation,
Healing and Renewal (RHR) programme lead by the Office
of the Premier.

National Campaign for Adolescent Girls and
Young Women
The SANAC Secretariat actively participated in the
development and launch of the national She Conquers
campaign for adolescent girls and young women. She
Conquers was launched in June 2016 by the Deputy
President of South Africa Cyril Ramaphosa, with a
commitment from Government to prioritise adolescent
girls and young women in the HIV response.
She Conquers aims to accelerate the national response
to the rise in HIV incidence amongst young women and
girls between the ages of 15 and 24 in South Africa. The
campaign has five main objectives which include keeping
girls in school, preventing SGBV, reducing unwanted
pregnancies, reducing new HIV infections, and increasing
economic opportunities.
SANAC co-led the development of various campaign
documents including the overall She Conquers campaign
document, the She Conquers Communications Plan,
and the M&E framework. The SANAC Secretariat also
facilitated the establishment of the She Conquers civil
society committee and remains a critical role player in
cascading the programme down to the provincial and
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district levels through the AIDS Councils – who are the
local coordinating mechanisms for the campaign.
The She Conquers campaign was integrated into the
NSP 2017-2022 and six of the She Conquers indicators
are included in the NSP core list of indicators to measure
country progress in responding to HIV. Adolescent girls
and young women were also specifically mentioned as a
vulnerable population to HIV and STIs in the NSP.
DREAMS is a component of the She Conquers campaign
and the SANAC secretariat, through the leadership of the
Executive Manager of the NSP Unit, continued to lead
the multisectoral DREAMS programme in the country
- with specific attention being paid to the coordination,
monitoring and documentation of the programme at
provincial level.

National key Population Programmes
Sex Work: the SANAC Secretariat continued to support
the DoH with the roll out of PrEP at 13 sites in five provinces.
By the end of March 2017, 1 232 sex workers were enrolled
on PrEP. Eleven percent of those sex workers who tested
HIV negative were initiated on PrEP. The project went well,
despite some challenges around misconceptions about
PrEP.

PWID: The SANAC Secretariat has worked with the
Central Drug Authority (CDA) to strengthen the capacity
of the CDA. The SANAC Secretariat facilitated several
meetings between the CDA and Right to Care as part of
strengthening the support. The Secretariat also worked
with the CDA in the development of the new National Drug
Master Plan and developed Terms of Reference for the
establishment of a Technical Working Group to oversee
the development of the national harm reduction plan in
line with the NSP 2017-2022.
LGBTI: Civil society organisations, through SANAC,
called for a national effort to address the needs of LGBTI
communities. The SANAC Secretariat, together with the
NDoH, DSD, DOJ, NGOs and the LGBTI sector took the lead
in developing a national plan for reducing HIV morbidity and
mortality and reducing human rights violations experienced
by members of the LGBTI community. A technical working
group was established comprising all the stakeholders as
well as donors. Numerous technical working group meetings
were held and a national LGBTI framework was developed.
This framework was presented at the International AIDS
conference after which final comments were considered
and the document was finalised and presented to the
SANAC PRC and SANAC Plenary.

Annual
Target

Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

To develop the national
LGBTI plan

Report with recommendations
prepared for consideration for
PRC

1

1

NSP document prepared and
submited to SANAC Plenary

1

1

Launch NSP 2017-2022 on World
AIDS Day

1

1

Develop strategy for HIV
Prevention in Young
Women 15-24

Launch of young women and girls
national campaign

1

1

To strengthen Provincial
AIDS Councils

HOS meeting to discuss
implementation of the strategy

2

2

Develop the National
Strategic Plan for HIV, TB,
and STIs 2017-2022

Achievement Commens on variance
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Programme 4: Monitoring and
Evaluation (M&E)

Key Recommendations for SANAC, derived
from the Assessment Reports were:

National Strategic Plan (NSP) 2017-2022

• D
 eveloping detailed data analysis plan, Standard
Operating Procedures (SOPs), and guidelines;

During the reporting period under review, the M&E Unit,
received technical assistance from WHO, UNAIDS and
developed the NSP M&E Framework (Indicator Matrix).
NSP M&E Framework is a table that describes the
indicators that will be used to measure progress of NSP
implementation. NSP M&E Framework (Indicator Matrix)
has been published together with the NSP 2017-2022.

SANAC Reports: NSP and Provincial
Strategic Plans (PSP) Annual Reports
The M&E National Unit provided support and guidance
to the Provincial M&E Officers in the compilation of the
Provincial Annual Progress reports for 2015/2016. Support
and guidance emanated from the report writing workshop
which was held in August 2016. Furthermore, the National
unit also compiled the 2015/2016 NSP Annual Progress
report. All reports are published on the SANAC website.

Provincial M&E Capacity Assessments
M&E Capacity assessments were conducted for eight
provinces. The Western Cape opted out by indicating
that no changes took place in the secretariat since the
2014 assessment. The Routine Data Quality Assessment
(RDQA) tool was used during the capacity assessments
in all the provinces. A total of eight provincial assessment
capacity reports together with one national report were
compiled to give a detailed perspective of the RDQA. The
2016/17 RDQA served as follow-up assessments to the
ones conducted in 2014/2015.

The purpose of the Assessments was to:
• I dentify capacity enhancement needs based on a
comparison between the RDQA conducted in the
periods 2014/15 and 2016/17.

• E
 stablishing memoranda of understanding (MOUs)
with all stakeholders; government, development and
sector partners at national and provincial levels for the
purposes of sharing and making data accessible for use
by the AIDS Councils;
• A
 dvocating for provincial secretariat support to
enhance the capacity of M&E Officers to conduct their
coordination role effectively;
 eviving District AIDS Councils (DACs) and Local AIDS
• R
Councils (LACs) structures, particularly in the North
West and Free State, as these are central to the data
management processes;
• L
 obbying for LACs to prioritise HIV M&E in their budget
and planning processes;
• P
 roactively developing a comprehensive M&E
framework/plan of the new NSP before provinces
finalise their plans;
• D
 eveloping and documenting the functioning of a
management information system;
• D
 eveloping and implementing a SANAC customized
training and capacity building plan for all M&E Officers;
• D
 eveloping a detailed mentorship, supportive supervision and targeted plan for documentation of SOPs in
all PCAs.
The proposed recommendations will inform the national
M&E Unit work plan for the subsequent annual reporting
periods.

Analysis of Global AID Response Progress
Report (GARPR) 2016

• C
 ompare the progress made in terms of data quality,
from the previous (2014) M&E capacity assessments
conducted.

The 2016 report took a different approach in terms of
presenting data for 2012 to 2015 and analysed progress
towards the commitments and targets set in the 2011
United Nations (UN) Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS by
the end of 2015 (full report available on SANAC website).

• P
 rovide monitoring and evaluation guidance and support
to provinces to ensure that all reporting requirements
are met.

The purpose of the report is to:

• S
 trengthen the capacity of the Provincial Councils on
AIDS (PCAs) M&E units in terms of analysing and using
data for decision-making.

• A
 nalyse the 2015 National AIDS Response Progress
Reporting and highlight main achievements to date with
regards to “ten targets” and show trends with previous
years.
• M
 ake recommendations for increased and/or decreased
trends realized, based on the HIV/AIDS response in the
country.
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Status at a glance per Ten Targets
Global target area Attainable

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

Attained by 2015?

Reduce sexual transmission of HIV by 50% by 2015

Reduce transmission of HIV among people who inject drugs by 50% by 2015

No
No

Eliminate new HIV infections among children by 2015 and
substantially reduce AIDS-related maternal deaths

Yes

Reach 15 million PLHIV with lifesaving antiretroviral treatment by 2015

Yes

Reduce TB deaths in PLHIV by 50% by 2015

Close the global AIDS resource gap by 2015 and reach annual global
investment of US$ 22-24 billion in low- and middle-income countries

No
Yes

Eliminate gender inequalities and gender-based abuse and violence and
increase the capacity of women and girls to protect themselves from HIV

No

Eliminate stigma and discrimination against people living with and affected by
HIV through promotion of laws and policies that ensure the full realisation of all
human rights and fundamental freedoms

No

Eliminate HIV-related restrictions on entry, stay and residence

Eliminate parallel systems for HIV-related services to strengthen integration of
the AIDS response in global health and development efforts
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Global AIDS Monitoring (GAM)
Previously Global AID Response Progress
Report (GARPR)
Progress in responding to the HIV epidemic against a
set of 10 global Commitments and expanded targets
established in the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV/
AIDS were reported to UNAIDS through online reporting.
Country progress per indicators were submitted online
using the Global AIDS Monitoring platform.
The commitments are:
1.	Ensure that 30 million people living with HIV have
access to treatment through meeting the 90–90–90
targets by 2020.
2.	Eliminate new HIV infections among children by 2020
while ensuring that 1.6 million children have access to
HIV treatment by 2018.
3.	
Ensure access to combination prevention options,
including pre-exposure prophylaxis, voluntary
medical male circumcision, harm reduction and
condoms, to at least 90% of people by 2020,
especially young women and adolescent girls in highprevalence countries and key populations—gay men
and other men who have sex with men, transgender
people, sex workers and their clients, people who
inject drugs, and prisoners.
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4.	
Eliminate gender inequalities and end all forms of
violence and discrimination against women and girls,
people living with HIV and key populations by 2020.
5.	
Ensure that 90% of young people have the skills,
knowledge and capacity to protect themselves from
HIV and have access to sexual and reproductive health
services by 2020, in order to reduce the number of
new HIV infections among adolescent girls and young
women to below 100 000 per year.
6.	Ensure that 75% of people living with, at risk of, and
affected by HIV benefit from HIV-sensitive social
protection by 2020.
7.	
Ensure that at least 30% of all service delivery is
community-led by 2020.
8.	Ensure that HIV investments increase to US$26 billion
by 2020, including a quarter for HIV prevention and
6% for social enablers.
9.	Empower people living with, at risk of, and affected by
HIV to know their rights and to access justice and legal
services to prevent and challenge violations of human
rights.
10.	
Commit to taking AIDS out of isolation through
people-centred systems to improve universal health
coverage, including treatment for tuberculosis,
cervical cancer and hepatitis B and C.
In addition, a survey on laboratory services, treatment by
regimes and targets was included in GAM.
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Highlights of the 2016 GAM data as published by UNAIDS:

Indicator

2010

2016

380 000
8.37%
210 000
6 100 000

270 000
5.58%
110 000
7 100 000

HIV EPIDEMIC
New infections
HIV incidence per 1000 population
AIDS-related deaths
People living with HIV

90-90-90
6 100 000 (86%)

People living with HIV who know their status

Number of people on treatment (public
and private)
Are virally suppressed

3 900 000 (56%)
3 200 000 (45%)

CHILDREN AND PREGNANT WOMEN
New HIV Infections - children
ART coverage - children
Coverage of pregnant women living with HIV
accessing ART medicine

25 000

12 000

29%

55%

93%

>95%

Full Global report can be found
on the following link: “Ending
AIDS: Progress towards the
90-90-90 targets
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National Commitments Policy Instrument
(NCPI) Report 2017
As part of GAM, a National Commitment Policy Instrument
questionnaire was administered by SANAC’s M&E Unit
with the National Department of Health, and distributed
to the departments of Social Development, Education, and
Justice for their input. A questionnaire aimed at civil society
was administered by a consultancy hired by SANAC.
A response rate of 95.8 was achieved for civil society and
100% for national authorities (Government and SANAC).
The NCPI is an integral component of the Global AIDS
Monitoring (GAM) that aims to measure progress in
developing and implementing policies, strategies and
laws related to the HIV global response in South Africa
by promoting consultation and dialogue between
stakeholders at the national level, especially government

and civil society, to capture their perspective on the AIDS
response. This is a useful component for global reporting
as it supports countries in assessing the status of their HIV
epidemic and response and identifying barriers, gaps and
facilitators to strengthen the response and collecting data
on the policy and legal environment related to the AIDS
response. The NCPI has been a component of the global
AIDS response since 2003 and has been implemented
every two years; most recently in 2014.

Private Sector data (Jan-Dec 2016)
SANAC – in partnership with the Council of Medical AIDS
Schemes (CMS) – collected data on 11 indicators for the
2016 calendar year. The data is reported at national level
on the following indicators: Medical Male Circumcision
(MMC); HIV Testing Services (HTS); antiretroviral therapy
(ART); HIV Prevalence; Prevention of Mother-to-child
transmission (PMTCT) and Viral suppression.

Total number of beneficiaries on the Disease Management Programme (DMP) was 8 475 857;
Total number of beneficiaries on the HIV DMP was 219 618;
Number of male beneficiaries medically circumcised was 42 323;
Total number of beneficiaries who were tested for HIV was 669 547;
Number of people currently receiving ART in the last report period was 260 057 It should be noted that this number was reported globally to UNAIDS as part of global AIDS monitoring.
HIV prevalence among covered beneficiaries was 623 237;
Number of live births to women known to be HIV+ was 16 842;
Number of infants born to HIV+ women who received a virological test for HIV within 2 months of birth was 4 809;
Number of HIV- exposed infants who initiated ARV prophylaxis was 1 673;
Number of pregnant women with known HIV status was 10 173;
Total number of beneficiaries for which viral load was taken was 201 544.

Strategic objective
To monitor progress
of the NSP and to fulfil
international reporting
requirements
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Performance
Indicator

Reporting
Period

Annual
Target

Progress to
Date
Quarterly Targets

2016/2017

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

(Brief comment)

Annual M&E Report
completed

Annual

1

0

0

0

1

Completed

Quantitative Report
(GARPR data)

Annual

1

0

0

0

1

Completed

Number of PCAs
with annual M&E
reports published

Annual

9

0

0

0

9

8 completed
except Gauteng
Province due to
shortage of staff
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Programme 5: Donor Coordination
The Global Fund
The Global Fund (GF) work this financial year covered the
closure of the previous grant (1 October 2013 to 31 March
2016) and the start of the new grant which covers the
period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019.

The new GF grant has eight Principal Recipients: five nongovernment and three government. The eight Principal
Recipients (PRs) are as follows: AIDS Foundation South
Africa (AFSA), KZN Treasury, Kheth’Impilo; NDOH;
Networking AIDS Community of SA (NACOSA); Right to
Care (RTC); Soul City and WCDOH. A maximum funding
celling of US$311 944 551 was allocated for South Africa
for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019.

Total Budget by Module

Sum of
Budget

% of Total

Prevention programmes for adolescents and youth, in and out of school

$

56 733.918

18.2%

Prevention programmes for other vulnerable populations (please specify)

$

41 351.370

13.3%

Prevention programmes for sex workers and their clients

$

13 263.635

4.3%

Prevention programmes for MSM and TGs

$

14 132.270

4.5%

Prevention programmes for people who inject drugs (PWID) and their partners

$

3 050.917

1.0%

Treatment, care and support

$

51 064.623

16.4%

MDR-TB

$

19 628.254

6.3%

TB/HIV

$

37 449.826

12.0%

Community systems strengthening

$

10 686.215

3.4%

HSS - Service delivery

$

1 483.948

0.5%

HSS - Health information systems and M&E

$

22 833.391

7.3%

HSS - Procurement supply chain management (PSCM)

$

7 118.580

2.3%

Programme Management

$

33 147.605

10.6%

Grand Total

$ 311 944 551

100.0%

Global Fund New Grant Funding Allocation per programmes area

GF Country Coordinating Mechanism (CCM)
Meetings
Three CCM meetings were held this year. The meeting
scheduled for 21 September 2016 did not occur due to
insufficient members being available to meet a quorum.
This did not impact on the effectiveness of the CCM and
members also took the opportunity to participate fully in
the National Strategic Plan development process. In all
CCM meetings there was a presentation by the Oversight
Committee on the quarterly financial and programmatic
performance of the Principal Recipients. The CCM gave
recommendations on these Oversight Committee reports
and continued to urge Principal Recipients to improve on
their performances both financially and programmatically.

CCM Eligibility and Performance
Assessment
The CCM secretariat carried out the yearly CCM Eligibility
and Performance Assessment (EPA) exercise in December
2016. The South African CCM was eligible to use a

simplified EPA strategy for 2016 (Light EPA Strategy) that
includes a desk review (Pillar1) and completion of the
Improvement Plan (Pillar 3). The EPA was successfully
submitted and accepted by the Global Fund.

Audit by the Global Fund Office of the
Inspector General
The Office of the Inspector General (OIG) arrived in the
country in January and completed their work at the end
of March 2017. This regular audit was focused on the
current Global Fund grant to the Republic of South Africa
and included a review of the CCM, CCM Secretariat and
all the Principal Recipients. They focused more intensely
on the programmes for young women and girls, TB and
adherence. This required a lot of intensive work from all
stakeholders as the team did their investigations. After
their fieldwork, the OIG briefed the CCM, the CCM Chair
and Vice-chair, Principal Recipients, the Director General
of Health, the DDG HIV, TB and MCH and Development
Partners in early April. The OIG report has been published
and is available on the Global Fund website.
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Flow of funds to Principal
Recipients
The total amount disbursed to principal recipients during
this period was US$64 523 516
April-June 2016

=

July-September 2016

=

October-December 2016 =
January- March 2017

=

US$10
US$28

767 422
940 385

US$16

687 911

US$8

127 798

The grants with four of the eight Principal Recipients were
only signed in the second quarter of the year, significantly
affecting the recruitment of staff and hence programme
implementation and spending in this year.

CCM Funding
1)	The Global Fund approved CCM Funding amounting
to US$612 837 for a two-year period. In January 2017
CCM Funding from the Global Fund was increased by
an additional US$300 000 bringing total funding to
US$ 900 000. The funding term was also extended to
three years.
2)	GIZ Funding for Capacity Building Activities:
EUR 152 059 (R2 585 000) for two years

GF CCM Oversight Committee (OC)
The OC held four meetings in the 2016/17 financial year
as follows: 31 May and 1 June 2016; 3 October 2016; 16
and 17 November 2016; and 28 February and 1 March
2017. A formal report from the OC was submitted to the
CCM members before each meeting and this was followed
by a presentation from the OC chairperson at the CCM
meeting. The reports focused on the performance of
the Principal Recipients and highlighted challenges and
identified issues to be addressed by the CCM.
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During the first meeting of the year, the OC focused on
the performance of the last grant and lessons to be learnt
from the Principal Recipients. Due to exchange rate gains
over the grant period the overall burn rate of the grant
was 69% in USD, with burn rates in ZAR ranging from 81%
to 100%.
The OC also carried out site visits after each meeting and
during the period under review visited the sex worker
site run by SWEAT in Observatory; the Sizwe Hospital
specializing in drug resistant TB (with funding from
NDOH); the RTC site in Mitchells Plain that provides
services to people who inject drugs; and a community site
run by ANOVA that provides services to men who have sex
with men, and transgender people.
The OC also had their annual planning meeting on 22 April
2016, where discussions focused on how to improve the
structure of the OC meetings as well as how to improve
the ability of members to provide support to the Principal
Recipients, especially as there were now eight in the new
grant.

Innovation for Impact
The main focus was on improving the availability and
use of data for better decision making. This was done
for the Global Fund grant and involved identifying the
requirements of a suitable dashboard to be used by
CCM members, and then sourcing a service provider and
working with two GF Principal Recipients to develop the
Focus for Impact approach that has been accepted as a
key principle for the National Strategic Plan for HIV, TB
and STIs 2017-2022.

Focus for Impact approach - using geospatial
mapping and risk profiling approach for
targeted multi-sectoral interventions in the
HIV, TB and STI response
One of the key deliverables of the Donor Coordination
unit, under the technical leadership of the HIV Technical
Advisor (now called Innovation for Impact Advisor), is the
development of the Focus for Impact approach that uses
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a geospatial mapping and risk profiling approach for
targeted multi-sectoral interventions in the HIV, TB
and STI response.
The Focus for Impact approach is now at the heart
of the NSP 2017 to 2022. This approach represents
an innovative way to reduce the morbidity and
mortality associated with HIV and TB and morbidity
from STIs. This is accomplished by interventions and
programmes that focus on the areas in the country
with the highest burden and populations that are
disproportionately at risk of new infection or already
living with the diseases. Focus for Impact offers
a roadmap that leverages scientific advances by
engaging with affected communities at provincial,
district and ward levels for a multi-sectoral response.
Focus for Impact includes a strong emphasis on
adolescents and young adults, especially women and
girls, as well as other vulnerable populations.
The Focus for Impact approach is a step wise approach
that sets out to answer four key questions:

1

2

Where

Why

are the HIV and TB
high burden areas
(spatial location)?

is this a high burden
area (associated risk
profile)?

3

4

Who

What

is at increased risk of
new infection in this
high burden area
(population specific)?

are the multi-level,
multi-sectoral high
impact interventions
(tailored interventions)
that should be put in
place to reduce the
burden in this area?

This approach was piloted in the uMgungundlovu
District in KwaZulu-Natal under the auspices of
the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Council for AIDS
and the uMgungundlovu District AIDS Council.
Support for the approach has been very positive
among community stakeholders (including a strong
presence from community members). One member
of the youth group from the Kwa Pata Operation
Sukhuma Sakhe war room described his involvement
as ‘now we can be part of the solutions for our
own area’.

Lessons learned during piloting in
uMgungundlovu District
1. B
 uy-in at all levels (provincial, district and local) is
critical for the approach to be successful. During the
piloting process various stakeholders and role-players
were involved. It might take a bit longer to ensure that the
various levels have an opportunity to engage with the detail
of the intended approach, however without this buy-in it
becomes just another exercise and reduces the potential
of the impact that the approach might have;
2.	Use existing structures for engagement, especially at
a community level. Linking up with existing structures
allows for quick integration into existing systems, tapping
into local knowledge and builds trust. Where these
structures are weak, efforts should be on strengthening
existing structures rather than creating new structures;
3. A
 lthough “perfect” data may not exist, decision making
can be supported. Even where “perfect” data may not
exist; enough data is available to guide broad decisions.
Decisions can be refined with interpolated data from
various sources;
4.	Hard-to-reach populations are difficult to recruit for
participation in community workshops. The assistance
of local implementing partners should be solicited to
optimise their participation. This might mean separate
consultation activities for the hard- to- reach populations
in each community by using existing service delivery
modalities; and
5.	Unintended workshop benefits. In addition to collecting
information for the risk profiles, the workshops were also
an opportunity to bring together stakeholders involved in
HIV and TB interventions and instill ownership for reducing
HIV and TB in their specific area.
The lessons learnt during the piloting of this innovative
approach were used to guide the implementation of the current
Global Fund grant for the KwaZulu-Natal Treasury and Western
Cape: Health. The further scale up of the Focus for Impact
approach will be used as the foundation for the development
of the PIP and MDIPs that reflects the implementation plans of
the NSP at district and provincial level.
Funding for the initial development and piloting of the HIV
geospatial mapping and profiling Focus for Impact approach
and web-based application was made possible through CDC
funding (CDC-RFA-GH13-1338) and an in-kind contribution
from NDoH for work linked to the NHIRD development.
Further refinement and scale up of the Focus for Impact
approach and web-application is made possible through
funding from the Global Fund through the KwaZulu-Natal
Treasury and Western Cape: Health and the refined data will
be used for the development of the next Global Fund Concept
Note. This includes further funding for the work by the
Innovation for Impact Advisor for this innovative approach.

South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2016/2017

34

Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

To raise and support the
effective management of
resources from donors for
the implementation of the
NSP

Number of effective CCM meetings
held
Funds disbursed by the Principal
Recipients by Global Fund

Achieved

4

3

US$80
million

4

4

Number of costing TTT reports
published

1

0

Throughout this period, the Secretariat managed to
align the meetings of the various governance structures
of SANAC, to enable the PRC to guide the agenda of the
SANAC Plenaries.

Technical Task Team meetings (Prevention
and Human Rights)
Prevention Technical Task Team
Highlights of the meeting included the recommendation
that the Sex Worker strategy as well as the process for the
Social and Behaviour Change Communication strategy be
presented at the SANAC PRC meeting for recommendation
to the Plenary. It was also suggested that SANAC should
continue to lead the Young Women and Girls prevention
strategy.
Legal and Human Rights Technical Task Team
SANAC Secretariat in partnership with the United
Nations Development Fund (UNPD) hosted a National
Consultative meeting on Stigma and Discrimination. The
aim of the meeting was to bring together various legal and
human rights stakeholders to discuss HIV and TB stigma
and discrimination research and programming in South
Africa and then formulate next steps based on available
avenues. The focus of the meeting was based on the
findings and recommendations of the HIV Stigma Index
Survey, the Legal Aid South Africa programme and the
Stigma Reduction Programme in the Eastern Cape. During
the first half of 2016, the Programme Review Committee,
Civil Society Forum, IMC and Plenary met to discuss and
prepare for the International AIDS Conference 2016 and
the processes as well as high-level strategic framework of
the NSP 2017-2022. The latter part of 2016 focused on
the priorities and finalisation of the next NSP as well as the
approval and launch of the new NSP.

Comments
This was due to the focus
of members on the NSP
development process

US$
Not all Primary Recipients
66 371 330 received money due to
surplus they still had from
the last quarter

Oversight Committee reports
submitted to the CCM

Programme 6: Government and Civil
Society Support
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Target

Programme Review Committee (PRC) meeting
The PRC - chaired by the DG in the Department of Health
Ms. Precious Matsoso, and Dr Ramneek Ahluwalia from
Civil Society - met three times during this reporting period
to review and recommend the new NSP as follows:
• 26 April 2016
• 18 October 2017
• 28 February 2017

SANAC Plenary
The SANAC Plenary took place on the following dates:
• 3 June 2016
• 11 November 2016
• 17 March 2017
The SANAC Plenary approved the LGBTI plan and undertook
a SWOT analysis during the Plenary held in March 2017
focusing mainly on the implementation strategy.

Civil Society
The Secretariat ensured that all the Sector Leaders
attended the International AIDS Conference in Durban.
Some Sector Leaders also attended pre-conference
activities such as the Traditional Health Practitioners
Conference and the TB Conference. A Civil Society
exhibition stand was erected in the community village,
reflecting on the role of civil society in the South African
HIV and TB response.
The Civil Society Sector Leaders hosted a night vigil with
the Gauteng AIDS Council on the eve of World AIDS in
Daveyton, where-after they participated in the World AIDS
Day event on 1 December 2016.
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The Secretariat continues to support the participation of
sectors in critical programmes, including the development
of the new NSP to ensure that all sectors own it. In
August and September, an extensive consultation process
took place with 400 Civil Society members as well as a
subsequent meeting with more than 100 “voices from
the ground”. During these meetings they elected the new
sector leaders and developed their sector priority plans.
Civil Society Forum and Sector Leaders meetings took
place on the following dates:
• 24 May 2016
• 8 July 2016
• 31 August 2016
• 1 November 2016

Stigma and Discrimination
Additional resources became available from GIZ to expand
the implementation of the Stigma Reduction programme.

Legal Aid South Africa
The number of calls to the toll free Legal Aid South African
number has dropped significantly since its launch in 2015.
A meeting was held between the key partners - SANAC,
Legal Aid South Africa, Webber Wentzel, Section 27 and
ILO - and it was agreed that targeted communication
material (comprising of a booklet, poster and sticker)
would be developed to promote the number as widely
as possible. Legal Aid South Africa also undertook the
initiative to print 350 000 matchboxes with the Legal Aid
number.

Development of a Stigma Reduction
Intervention Model

• 30 November 2016
• 22-23 February 2017
During this time, particular focus was placed on finalising
governance issues, including the development of the
Terms of Reference of Civil Society and the development
of a discussion document on the institutionalisation of
Civil Society.

AIDS Quilt Project
The international AIDS conference provided a unique and
powerful opportunity to share South Africa’s journey with
the global AIDS community. SANAC took the initiative
during the International AIDS Conference 2016 to bring
back the quilt project, which proved a huge success and
received significant media coverage. South Africans
shared their journey of hope, a journey of people living
longer and healthier lives, a journey filled with stories of
struggle and survival, stories of how government, civil
society, churches, business and many other stakeholders
have joined forces to change the country’s narrative of its
relationship with HIV. More than 400 quilts were made
and displayed at the AIDS Conference. A quilt coffee table
book was printed and handed out during the conference.
One of the quilts was donated to United Nations SecretaryGeneral, Ban Ki-moon.

Strategic objective

Following the completion of the community model for
social change in three local municipalities in the OR
Tambo district - King Sabatha Dalindyebo, Nyandeni and
Ngquza, a toolkit was developed for both facilitators and
participants.
With the extension of the GIZ contract, implementation
continued in the Eastern Cape and expansion into
Mpumalanga:
- Eastern Cape: OR Tambo and Buffalo City
- Mpumalanga: Ehlanzeni and Gert Sibande
The development of the stigma reduction model was
received positively by development partners and the
material will be included in the Community Systems
Strengthening programmes to capacitate organisations
with the knowledge and tools to easily integrate stigma
and discrimination within their existing programmes.

Performance Indicator

Effectively and efficiently
coordinate the implementation
of the NSP

Reporting
Period

Annual
Target

Quarterly Targets

2016/2017

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Number of Plenary meetings

Quarterly

4

1

1

1

1

Number of CSF meetings

Quarterly

4

1

1

1

1

Number of PRC meetings

Quarterly

2

1

0

1

0
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
Revenue Collection
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to SANAC Trust and revenue
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration receivable on an accrual basis. It includes
investment and non-operating income exclusive of value-added taxation, rebates and discounts.
Table 2: Revenue Collection
2016/17
Estimated

Sources of revenue

R’000
Department for International Development

2015/2016

(Over)/
Actual
Under
amount
collected Collection
R’000

R’000

Estimated
R’000

(Over)/
Actual
Under
amount
collected Collection
R’000

R’000

-

-

-

5 548

5 548

Centers for Disease Control (CDC)*

19 936

19 089

847

16 070

15 054

Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale
Zusammenarbeit (GIZ)*

10 296

5 561

4 735

2 010

2 014

4

10 311

8 357

1 954

Government Grants - NDOH

16 711

16 711

-

15 840

20 532

4 693

Government Grants - DSD*

27 541

14 551

12 990

-

-

-

1 177

3 991

Global Fund*
World Health Organization

491

Goods and Services in Kind
Other

5 168

Interest Received

2 000

Total

91 963

-

2 985 68 922

-

1 016

491
-

-

686

686

985

1 100

1 467

367

23 041

40 568

45 302

4 734

Programme Expenditure
The main under-expenditure relates to the NSP Implementation programmes of R18 million: with the Department of Social
Development (DSD) grant budgeted at R27.5 million and spending R14.5 million due to transfers to some sub-recipients being
made in the following year, with the DSD deferred income being carried forward for the following year, and the Deutsche
Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) grant for R10 million expending R5 million with the balanced deferred
to the following year.
Table 3: Programme Expenditure
2016/17
Budget

Programme name

NSP Implementation *

2015/2016

(Over)/
Actual
Under
Expenditure
Expenditure

Budget

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/
Under
Expenditure

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

39 383

21 015

18 368

7 296

7 201

95

Governmental & Civil Society Support

4 588

4 438

150

2 234

2 216

18

Remuneration

9 805

8 491

1 313

10 594

10 995

-401

Donor Coordination

11 067

12 171

-1 104

8 146

8 272

-126

Communications

2 304

1 668

636

7 382

7 234

148

20 992

20 125

868

8 271

8 363

-92

2 495

3 521

-1 026

3 749

4 016

-267

90 633

71 429

19 204

47 672

48 297

-625

Monitoring & Evaluation
Governance & Administration
Total
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THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Introduction

Risk Management

The Board of Trustees that was registered with the Master
of the North Gauteng High Court on 29 January 2016,
continued to act during the period. After the end of the
2016/17 financial year there were significant changes to the
Board of Trustees with the Chairperson, Dr G Ramokgopa
standing down in May 2017 and then resigning as a Trustee
in July 2017. Dr A Ntsaluba took over as Chairperson from
June 2017. Other resignations of trustees in the following
year were Mr P Ramothwala in July 2017, and Mr M
Tshemese in July 2017.

The process of risk management entails the identification
of key risks along with risk evaluation and risk mitigating
strategies. Risks are evaluated based on their inherency
and the effectiveness of controls to mitigate. Any gap
between the accepted level of risk and the residual risk
after mitigating strategies is investigated and additional
controls and procedures are implemented to bring all risk
to an acceptable level.

The following new appointees were appointed as Trustees
in June 2017: Mr Y Abba Omar, Ms C Dudumashe
(subsequently resigned in November 2017), Ms FE Letlape,
Ms H Motau, and Ms AJ Mthombeni.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of
Trustees
The roles and responsibilities of the Trustees are stated in
the Trust Deed.

Trust Deed
The Trust is governed by the Trust Property Control Act 57
of 1988 and the Trust Deed that paves the way forward in
which the Trust must be governed.
The Trust was established in 2002. The Trust Deed was
amended during the course of 2012 and the new Trust
Deed was approved by the Trustees, the Deputy President
and Minister of Health in the first quarter of 2013. In May
2013, the Trust Deed was also approved by the Minister of
Finance and the SARS Commissioner. The Deed - as well
as the documents relating to the change of Trustees - has
been registered with the Master of the High Court.

Composition of the Board of Trustees
Trustees were appointed in writing by the Deputy President
in September 2015 and registered with the North Gauteng
High Court in January 2016. For continuity, two Trustees
have had their terms extended. These are Dr Ayanda
Ntsaluba and Ms Mmapaseka Letsike. See page 21.

Board Committees
During the 2016/17 financial year, the following subcommittees were established, see page 21.

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the Risk
Management procedures of the Trust and their findings
are outlined in the report of the Audit and Risk Committee
below.

Internal Audit and Audit Committees
The purpose of the Internal Audit is to review the effective
functioning of internal controls. They report to the Chief
Executive Officer and the Audit and Risk Committee on all
matters relating to internal control and any challenges that
the organisation faces relating thereto.
NEXIA-SAB&T continued their appointment as internal
auditors throughout the year and reported to the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Fraud and Corruption
A comprehensive Fraud and Corruption policy has been
developed and implemented. No issues were identified
during the year.

Minimising Conflicts of Interest
All staff has been advised of the need to declare any
conflicts of interest in the course of any procurement that
they may be involved in. All staff have signed declarations
of interest as required by the HR Policy.
All suppliers are required to disclose any conflicts of
interest in order to register on the Supplier Data Base.

Code of Conduct
A code of conduct has been developed and implemented.
All new staff are made aware of the Code of Conduct and
agree to commit to it in their contract of employment.

Health, Safety and Environmental Issues
The SANAC Trust complies with Health and Safety laws
and regulations.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
We are pleased to present our report for the financial
period ended 31 March 2017.

Functions of the Audit and Risk
Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) is a
committee of the Board of Trustees. It assists the Board
of Trustees through advising and making submissions
on financial reporting, oversight of the risk management
process and internal financial controls, external and internal
audit functions and statutory compliance of SANAC Trust.

Composition and Meetings
At 31 March 2017, the Committee consisted of five
independent non-executive members. The Audit and
Risk Committee Charter (“the Charter”) requires the
Committee to hold at least four meetings per annum. At
31 March 2017, the committee held five meetings on the
following dates:
• 24 May 2016
•

2 August 2016

•

21 November 2016

•

7 February 2016

•

2 March 2017

The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer
and representatives of the external and internal auditors
attend the Committee meetings by invitation. The internal
and external auditors have unrestricted access to the
Committee.

Duties

The fixed-term contract of the CEO of SANAC Trust
concluded in January 2017. He was replaced internally
by an acting CEO until August 2017, when a permanent
CEO was appointed. The period without a permanent CEO
could have resulted in many challenges as highlighted by
the Committee to the Board of Trustees, including the risk
relating to the finalisation of the annual financial statements
and the audit for the 31 March 2017 financial year end. The
Committee believes that the delay in the finalisation of the
annual financial statements will not recur.

Oversight of Risk Management
The Committee received assurance from management
that the process and procedures followed in terms of
acceptable risk management procedures are adequate to
ensure that financial risks are identified and monitored.

Internal Financial Control
The system of controls within SANAC Trust is designed to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
and that liabilities and working capital are properly
managed. An outsourced internal audit function provides
the Committee and management with assurance that the
internal controls are appropriate and effective.
The internal auditors rated SANAC Trust’s overall
performance of the audited activities completed at
November 2016 as “Some improvement needed”, with no
significant weaknesses identified. The Committee notes
management’s commitment to address the reported
matters and will monitor their progress in resolving these
issues on a regular basis.

Evaluation of the Annual Financial
Statements and External Audit
Based on processes followed and assurance received,
nothing has come to the Committee’s attention regarding:

The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference as
its Charter, which is reviewed regularly. The Committee
operates in accordance with the Charter and has executed
its duties during the period in accordance with its terms
of reference, including making several submissions to the
Board of Trustees on matters relating to relevant audit and
risk matters.

•

Limitations in the external auditor’s independence; or

•

Complaints relating to the accounting practices and
internal audit of SANAC Trust, the content or auditing of
its financial statements, the internal financial controls
of SANAC Trust, and any other related matters.
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In addition to their statutory duties, the external auditors
also performed a limited assurance review on the
performance information included in the Annual Report of
the Trust.

Regulatory Compliance
The Committee is not aware of any matters of noncompliance relating to any applicable legal and regulatory
responsibilities.

Appreciation
We wish to acknowledge the dedication and hard work
performed by management and other officials. We are
grateful and appreciative of their support and consistent
value adding contributions.

Statement by the Chairperson of the
Audit Committee
The Committee has complied with legal, regulatory
and other responsibilities assigned to it by the Board of
Trustees.
In making these assessments, we have obtained feedback
from management, external and internal audit.
Based on processes and assurance obtained, as
chairperson of the audit committee, I recommend the
annual report, including the annual financial statements to
the Board of Trustees for approval.
On behalf of the Audit Committee

Monique Malan (Chairperson)

8 February 2018
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Human Resource priorities for the
year under review
1. Organisational Structure
The Trust has updated its structure for the period under
review. In addition, new positions were created and this
led to the size of the organisation growing to a total of 51
positions with ten vacancies, and 41 filled positions.

3. Challenges faced by the Trust
• T
 he recruitment of suitably qualified staff continues
to be a challenge. The Trust requires a very specific
and scarce skill-set for key positions in order to
fulfil its mandate. This impacted the timeframes for
recruitment, selection and appointments, but the
Human Resource department is working towards filling
the vacancies as soon as possible.

2. Recruitment of Staff

 R is engaged in a process to find ways of attracting
• H
and retaining talent in an effort to address the reasons
for the high staff turnover experienced in the past year.

Due the increasing size of the organisation, and staff
turnover, the vacancy rate at the end of this reporting
period is 20%; however, the Secretariat is putting effort
into filling the vacant positions.

4. Future Human Resources Plans
The focus areas for the next reporting period are:
• Reducing the number of vacancies
• Implementing a performance management system.
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Human Resources Oversight
Statistics
Personnel Cost
The table below is a representation of the human resources within the Trust during this reporting period.
Table 4: Personnel cost

Programme
All programmes
1

Total
expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel
expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel expenditure as
% of total expenditure

No. of
employees

Average personnel
cost per employee
(R’000)1

71 429

26 032

36%

41

635

Total expenditure for programme divided by personnel expenditure.

Employment and Vacancies
The approved human resource complement of the Trust during this reporting period was set to 51. At the end of this reporting
period, the Trust had 41 full time employees and ten vacancies as per the table below.
Table 5: Employment and vacancies per programme
Unit

2015/16

Communication
Governance and Administration
Monitoring and Evaluation
NSP Implementation
Inter-Governmental and Sector
Support
Donor Coordination
CEO’s Office
Campaigns
Total

2016/17

No of employees Approved posts
1
2
10
10
10
12
6
10
4
5
4
2
2
39

2016/17

2016/17

No of employees
2
9
10
10
2

Vacancies
1
2
0
3

3
3
2
41

4
10

7
3
2
51

% of
vacancies
10%
17%
0%
60%
57%

20%

Equity
The tables below illustrate the human resource equity of the Trust’s Secretariat. The Trust does not have to comply with
BBBEE codes based on the size of the Secretariat, but its turnover exceeds R5 million, which requires the Trust to develop
and identify equity targets. During the next financial year, this will be a priority for the Human Resource department.
Table 6: Equity
African
Male

Top management
Senior management
Professional qualified
Skilled
Semi-skilled
Unskilled
Total

Coloured

Female

Male

1
9
2

11

13
2
2
2
20

Female

Indian/ Asian
Male

Female

White
Male

1

0

1

Female

1
1
1
1

1

3

1

3
1

0

5

Disabled Staff
The trust does not currently employ any disabled staff.
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South African National AIDS Council Trust
(Registration number IT 6481/02)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

General Information
Country of incorporation
and domicile		

South Africa

Principal activities of the Trust	The South African National AIDS Council
(SANAC) is a voluntary association of
institutions established by the National
Cabinet of the South African Government
to build consensus across government,
civil society and all other stakeholders to
drive an enhanced country response to
HIV, TB and STIs.
Trustees		

Ms S Khama - Appointed Jan 2016

Chairperson to May 2017	Dr G Ramokgopa - Appointed Jan 2016,
resigned July 2017
		 Ms ME Letsike - Appointed Sept 2013
		 Prof K Mlisana - Appointed Jan 2016
Chairperson from June 2017
Dr A Ntsaluba - Appointed Sept 2013
		
Ms T Orleyn - Appointed Jan 2016
		
Dr Y Pillay - Appointed Jan 2016
		Mr P Ramothwala - Appointed Jan 2016,
resigned July 2017
		Mr M Tshemese - Appointed Jan 2016,
resigned July 2017
		
Mr M Zazini - Appointed Jan 2016
Trustees appointed after
current year end		

Mr Y Abba Omar - Appointed June 2017

		Ms C Dudumashe - Appointed June 2017,
resigned Nov 2017
		
Ms FE Letlape - Appointed June 2017
		
Ms H Motau - Appointed June 2017
		
Ms AJ Mthombeni - Appointed June 2017
Registered office		2nd Floor, Block E, Hatfield Gardens
333 Grosvenor Street, Pretoria 0028
Postal address		

P.O. Box 13912, Hatfield 0028

Bankers		

ABSA Bank Limited

Auditors		ARC Chartered Accountants & Auditors
Incorporated, Registered Chartered
Accountants (SA) & Auditors
Trust registration number		

IT 6481/02

Level of assurance		These annual financial statements have
been audited in compliance with the
applicable requirements of the Trust
Deed.
Preparer		The annual financial statements were
internally compiled by:
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A. Uys
Chief Financial Officer

Issued		

12 December 2017
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Trustees’ Responsibilities and Approval
The trustees are required in terms of the Trust Deed to
maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible
for the content and integrity of the annual financial
statements and related financial information included
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the
annual financial statements fairly present the state of
affairs of the SANAC Trust as at the end of the financial
year and the results of its operations and cash flows for
the period then ended, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are
engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual
financial statements.
The annual financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable
and prudent judgements and estimates.
The trustees acknowledge that they are ultimately
responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the Trust and place considerable
importance on maintaining a strong control environment.
To enable the trustees to meet these responsibilities, the
board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored
throughout the Trust and all employees are required to
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the
Trust’s business is conducted in a manner that in all
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of
risk management in the Trust is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across
the Trust. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated,
the Trust endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined
procedures and constraints.

49

The trustees are of the opinion, based on the information
and explanations given by management, that the system
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of
the annual financial statements. However, any system of
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
The trustees have reviewed the Trust’s cash flow forecast
for the year to 31 March 2018 and, in light of this review
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that
the Trust has or had access to adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently
auditing and reporting on the Trust’s annual financial
statements. The annual financial statements have been
examined by the Trust’s external auditors and their report
is presented on pages 50 to 51.
The annual financial statements set out on pages 52 to
72, which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the board on 12 December 2017 and
were signed on their behalf by:
Approval of financial statements

Dr Ayanda Ntsaluba
Chairperson: Board of Trustees
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Report of the External
Auditor to the Board of
Trustees
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the trustees of the South African National AIDS
Council Trust
Opinion
We have audited the annual financial statements of South
African National AIDS Council Trust set out on pages 52
to 71, which comprise the statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2017, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in reserves and statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
annual financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
South African National AIDS Council Trust as at 31 March
2017, and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Trust
Deed.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the annual financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Trust in accordance with the Independent Regulatory
Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for
Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits of annual
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA
Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA
Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the Trustees’ Report and the
Audit Committee’s Report as required by the Trust Deed
of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of
this report. Other information does not include the annual
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the annual financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the annual
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the trustees for the Annual
Financial Statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the annual financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the Trust Deed, and
for such internal control as the trustees determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the annual financial statements, the Trustees
are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend
to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Annual
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the annual financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
annual financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
• I dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the annual financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

• E
 valuate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the annual financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the annual financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors
Incorporated, Registered Chartered Accountants
and Auditors (SA)
Per: F. van Heerden CA(SA)/RA
Associate

12 December 2017
Johannesburg
1st Floor, Unit 5
299 Pendoring Avenue
Blackheath Ext 6
2195

 btain an understanding of internal control relevant
• O
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Trust’s internal control.
• E
 valuate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the trustees.
 onclude on the appropriateness of the trustees use of
• C
the going concern basis of accounting and based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the annual financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017
2017

2016

Note(s)

R

R

Property, plant and equipment

3

1 055 017

1 376 039

Intangible assets

4

12 090

-

1 067 107

1 376 039

Assets
Non-Current Assets

Current Assets
Receivables

5

10 516 199

5 473 250

Other financial assets

6

16 193 131

4 438 791

Cash and cash equivalents

7

73 987 080

14 989 659

100 696 410

24 901 700

101 763 517

26 277 739

20 299 495

22 807 222

10

1 046 367

658 743

9

5 790 386

1 993 441

Operating lease liability

10

144 165

117 674

Deferred income

11

73 775 896

124 000

Provisions

8

707 208

576 659

80 417 655

2 811 774

Total Liabilities

81 464 022

3 470 517

Total Equity and Liabilities

101 763 517

26 277 739

Total Assets
Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Retained income
Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Operating lease liability
Current Liabilities
Payables
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income

2017

2016

Note(s)

R

R

12

65 776 522

43 834 777

(71 429 674)

(48 299 401)

Project expenses
Operating deficit

26

(5 653 152)

(4 464 624)

Investment income

13

2 985 116

1 467 399

Finance costs

14

-

(693)

Fair value adjustments

15

160 309

(17 228)

(2 507 727)

(3 015 146)

-

-

(2 507 727)

(3 015 146)

Retained income

Total reserves

R

R

25 822 368

25 822 368

(3 015 146)

(3 015 146)

-

-

Deficit for the year

(3 015 146)

(3 015 146)

Balance at 01 April 2016

22 807 222

22 807 222

Deficit for the year

(2 507 727)

(2 507 727)

-

-

Deficit for the year

(2 507 727)

(2 507 727)

Balance at 31 March 2017

20 299 495

20 299 495

Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year

Statement of Changes in Reserves

Balance at 01 April 2015
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income
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Statement of Cash Flows
2017

2016

Note(s)

R

R

16

67 686 431

(18 051 285)

2 985 116

1 467 399

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest income

-

(693)

70 671 547

(16 584 579)

Finance costs
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

3

(68 522)

(1 408 310)

Sale of property, plant and equipment

3

824

-

Purchase of intangible assets

4

(12 400)

-

Purchase of financial assets

(11 594 031)

(4 456 019)

Net cash from investing activities

(11 674 129)

(5 864 329)

Total cash movement for the year

58 997 421

(22 448 908)

Cash at the beginning of the year
Total cash at end of the year

7

14 989 659

37 438 567

73 987 080

14 989 659
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1.

Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these annual financial statements are set out below.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous
period.

1.1 Basis of Preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and
in compliance with, International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), the requirements of the Trust Deed
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations issued and effective
at the time of preparing these annual financial statements
and the Trust Deed of South Africa, as amended.
These annual financial statements comply with the
requirements of the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and the
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the
Financial Reporting Standards Council.
The annual financial statements have been prepared
on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated
in the accounting policies which follow and incorporate
the principal accounting policies set out below. They are
presented in Rands, which is the company’s functional
currency.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is
ready for use as intended by management. Depreciation
is charged to write off the asset’s carrying amount over
its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value,
using a method that best reflects the pattern in which
the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the
Trust. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent
manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and
the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset
if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its
carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the
earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for
sale or derecognised.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment
have been assessed as follows:

Item

Depreciation
method

Average useful
life

Office equipment

Straight line

5

IT equipment

Straight line

3

Leasehold
improvements

Straight line

Over the
remaining lease
period

1.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method
of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting
year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates,
the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in
accounting estimate.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which
the Trust holds for its own use and which are expected to
be used for more than one year.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with
a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the
item is depreciated separately.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as
an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Trust, and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in
profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount
of another asset.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous
period.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at
cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the
asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on
qualifying assets.
Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services,
additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant
and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will
flow to the Trust and the cost can be measured reliably.
Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in
the year in which they are incurred.

55

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and
equipment when there is an indicator that they may
be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher
than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the
carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or
loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property,
plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the
item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the
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derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles,
customer lists and items similar in substance are not
recognised as intangible assets.

1.3 Intangible Assets

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as
follows:

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the
entity; and

Item

Useful life

Patents, trademarks and other rights

20 years

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

1.4 Financial Instruments

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Classification

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is
incurred. An intangible asset arising from development
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised when:

The Trust classifies financial assets and financial liabilities
into the following categories:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it
will be available for use or sale.
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits.
• t here are available technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the asset.
• t he expenditure attributable to the asset during its
development can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses.
An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite
useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset
is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation
is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other
intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight
line basis over their useful life.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.
Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a
finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the
asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying
amount is amortised over its useful life.

• Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit
• Loans and receivables
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes
place at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on
an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets
designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit, which
shall not be classified out of the fair value through surplus
or deficit category.

Initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the
Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. The Trust classifies financial instruments,
or their component parts, on initial recognition as a
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement.
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair
value, except for equity investments for which a fair
value is not determinable, which are measured at cost
and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
For financial instruments which are not at fair value
through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included
in the initial measurement of the instrument.
Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent Measurement
Financial instruments at fair value through surplus or
deficit are subsequently measured at fair value, with
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gains and losses arising from changes in fair value being
included in surplus or deficit for the period.

amount would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value
through surplus or deficit exclude dividends and interest.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in surplus
or deficit.

Dividend income is recognised in surplus or deficit as part
of other income when the Trust’s right to receive payment
is established.
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less
accumulated impairment losses.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised
in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When
such assets are written off, the write off is made against
the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against
operating expenses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Financial Instruments designated as at fair
value through profit or loss

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Trust has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair Value Determination
The fair values of quoted investments are based on
current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not
active (and for unlisted securities), the Trust establishes
fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the
use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting date the Trust assesses all financial
assets, other than those at fair value through surplus or
deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been
impaired.
For amounts due to the Trust, significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all
considered indicators of impairment.
Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.
Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in
the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to the restriction that the
carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the
impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying
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These include financial assets held for trading and
financial assets designated upon initial recognition after
transaction date. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling to
realise a return

Receivables
Accounts receivable are measured at initial recognition
at cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue)
are considered indicators that the account receivable is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss
is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses.
When an account receivable is uncollectable, it is written
off against the allowance account for accounts receivable.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against operating expenses in profit or loss.

Payables
Trade payables are initially measured at cost, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

1.5 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it
does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the
contractual payments are recognised as an operating
lease asset. This liability is not discounted.
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are
incurred.
Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as
a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the
life of the lease term.

1.6 Impairment of Assets
The Trust assesses at each end of the reporting period
whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Trust estimates
the recoverable amount of the asset.
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired,
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is
determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior
periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist
or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset other than
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other
than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is
treated as a revaluation increase.

1.7 Reserves
Reserves are comprised of the initial donation in the Trust
after surplus or deficit for each financial year.

1.8 Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid
vacation leave and sick leave), are recognised in the period
in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is
recognised as an expense as the employees render
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of
non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

1.9 Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• t he Trust has a present obligation as a result of a past
event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an
impairment loss.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when,
and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement
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will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The
reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset.
The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not
exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present
obligation under the contract shall be recognised and
measured as a provision.

1.10 Government Grants
Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that:
• t he Trust will comply with the conditions attaching to
them; and
• the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognised as income over the
periods necessary to match them with the related costs
that they are intended to compensate.
A government grant that becomes receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the entity with no future related costs is recognised as
income of the period in which it becomes receivable.
Government grants related to assets, including nonmonetary grants at fair value, are presented in the
statement of financial position by setting up the grant as
deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at
the carrying amount of the asset.
Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the
profit or loss.

1.11 Income
Income comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable from grants, donations and
fundraising activities. Income is recognised as follows:
Non-designated funds (Grants)
Grants are accounted for on a cash received basis.
Designated programme funds (Grants)
Designated programme funds received are deferred and
recognised in the statement of Other comprehensive
income when utilised. Designated funds are those funds
the use of which is restricted by the donor for specified
projects.
Donations in kind (Designated and non-designated)
Donations in kind (asset or service) are recognised at fair
value on the date of receipt.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

1.12 Related Party Transactions
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the reporting entity and
a related party. Related party transactions are recorded in
the notes to the financial statements when the transaction
is not at arm’s length.
Key management personnel are those persons having the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the department. The number
of individuals and their full compensation is recorded in
the notes to the financial statements.

In the event of default the repayment of a grant related to
income is applied first against any un-amortised deferred
credit set up in respect of the grant. To the extent that the
repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where
no deferred credit exists, the repayment is recognised
immediately as an expense.
Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by
increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing
the deferred income balance by the amount repayable.
The cumulative additional depreciation that would have
been recognised to date as an expense in the absence of
the grant is recognised immediately as an expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
2.	New Standards and Interpretations
2.1	Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
In the current year, the Trust has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:
Effective date:
Years beginning
on or after

Expected impact:

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38:
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation

01 January 2019

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments:
Disclosures: Annual Improvements project

01 January 2016

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Amendment to IAS 19: Employee Benefits:
Annual Improvements project

01 January 2018

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1:
Presentation of Financial Statements

01 January 2016

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Standard/ Interpretation:

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The Trust has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the Trust’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2017 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:
Years beginning
on or after

Expected impact:

Insurance Contracts

01 January 2021

Unlikely there will be a material impact

IFRS 16 Leases

01 January 2019

Unlikely there will be a material impact

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

01 January 2018

Unlikely there will be a material impact
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3. Property, Plant and Equipment
2017
Carrying
value
R

Cost or Accumulated
revaluation depreciation
R
R

2016
Cost or Accumulated
revaluation depreciation
R
R

Carrying
value
R

Office equipment

957 058

(306 306)

650 752

926 372

(177 795)

748 577

IT equipment

743 626

(711 994)

31 632

713 290

(576 135)

137 155

Leasehold
improvements

588 368

(215 735)

372 633

588 368

(98 061)

490 307

2 289 052

(1 234 035)

1 055 017

2 228 030

(851 991)

1 376 039

Total

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017
2017

2017

Opening balance
R

Additions
R

Disposals
R

Depreciation
R

Total
R

Office equipment

748 577

30 686

-

(128 511)

650 752

IT equipment

137 155

37 836

(824)

(142 535)

31 632

490 307

-

-

(117 674)

372 633

1 376 039

68 522

(824)

(388 720)

1 055 017

2016

2016

Leasehold improvements

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2016
Opening balance
R

Additions
R

Disposals
R

Depreciation
R

Total
R

402 880

654 113

(152 281)

(156 135)

748 577

147 081

165 829

(56 932)

(118 823)

137 155

-

588 368

-

(98 061)

490 307

549 961

1 408 310

(209 213)

(373 019)

1 376 039

Office equipment
IT equipment
Leasehold improvements

4. Intangible Assets
2017
Cost or Accumulated
Valuation amortisation
R
R
Patents, trademarks
and other rights

12 400

(310)

2016
Carrying
value
R
12 090

Cost or Accumulated
Valuation amortisation
R
R
-

Carrying
value
R

-

-

Additions Amortisation
R
R

Total
R

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2017
Opening
balance
R
Patents, trademarks and other rights

61

-

12 400
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5. Receivables
2017

2016

R

R

28 896

44 624

VAT

4 702 975

1 362 652

Donations receivable

5 009 692

3 330 414

774 636

728 115

-

7 445

10 516 199

5 473 250

Accounts receivable

Deposits held
Accrued interest

Fair value of accounts receivable
Receivables are alll interest free. The fair value is considered to be equal to the carrying value and all receivables are
considered to be short-term in nature. The impact of discounting is not considered to be material.

6. Other Financial Assets
2017

2016

R

R

16 193 131

4 438 791

16 193 131

4 438 791

2017

2016

R

R

337

1 119

57 670 566

3 734 433

At fair value through profit or loss - designated
Unit Trusts
Investment in unit Trusts with Momentum Collective
Investments Limited
Current assets
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Short-term deposits

16 316 177

11 254 107

73 987 080

14 989 659

Funds are kept on short-term deposit to earn interest as per investment policy. Funds are withdrawn as needed to meet
obligations. Interest earned on investments at 7.17% pa (2016: 7.77% pa)
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8. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions - 2017
Opening balance
R
Provision for leave pay

576 659

Additions Utilised during the year
R
R

Total
R

271 249

(140 700)

707 208

Opening balance
R

Additions
R

Total
R

383 767

192 892

576 659

Reconciliation of provisions - 2016

Provision for leave pay

9. Payables

Accounts payable
Accruals
Governance and Adminstration

2017

2016

R

R

1 435 451

537 141

4 354 935

1 456 300

5 790 386

1 993 441

323 007

216 917

Remuneration

615 616

-

Communication

215 811

408 714

498 454

-

NSP Coordination

1 226 815

788 769

Donor Coordination

1 472 191

11 009

3 041

30 891

4 354 935

1 456 300

Monitoring and Evaluation

Government and Civil Society
Project allocation of accruals

Fair value of accounts payable
Payables are all interest free, the fair value is considered to be equal to the carrying amount and are considered to be current
due to their short-term nature.

10. Operating Lease Asset (accrual)
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

(1 046 367)

(658 743)

(144 165)

(117 674)

(1 190 532)

(776 417)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This
liability is not discounted
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11. Deferred Income
2017

2016

R

R

-

124 000

69 305 589

-

916 506

-

World Health Organisation

1 009 180

-

Global Fund

2 544 621

-

73 775 896

124 000

Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale
Zusammenarbeit
Department of Social Development
Estée Lauder MAC AIDS Fund

Deferred income consists of designated programme funds (Grants). Designated programme funds received are deferred
and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when utilised. Designated funds are those funds the use of which
is restricted by the donor for specified projects.

12. Income
Government grants

31 261 698

20 223 249

Other Grants

34 514 824

23 611 528

65 776 522

43 834 777

19 089 409

15 054 247

5 560 800

2 323 039

14 550 698

-

8 357 421

-

Designated Grants
Center for Disease Control
Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale
Zusammenarbeit
Department of Social Development
Global Fund
World Health Organisation
Department for International Development
Other

490 820

-

-

5 547 988

1 016 374

-

49 065 522

22 925 274

16 711 000

20 223 249

-

686 254

49 065 522

22 925 274

16 711 000

20 223 249

-

686 254

65 776 522

43 834 777

Non-designated Grants
National Department of Health
Donations in kind
Futures Group - seconded staff
Grants
Designated grants
Non-designated grants
Donations in kind
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13. Investment Income
2017

2016

R

R

2 985 116

1 467 399

-

693

160 309

(17 228)

160 309

(17 228)

(2 507 727)

(3 015 146)

389 030

373 019

-

209 213

(2 985 116)

(1 467 399)

-

693

(160 309)

17 228

414 115

776 417

130 549

192 892

(5 042 949)

(4 027 474)

Interest income
From investments in financial assets:
Bank and other cash

14. Finance Costs
Bank and other cash penalties

15. Fair Value Adjustments
Fair value gains (losses)
Other financial assets

16. Cash Generated from Operations
Surplus/(Deficit)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Disposals of property, plant and equipment
Interest received
Finance costs
Fair value (gains) losses
Movements in operating lease assets and accruals
Movements in provisions
Changes in working capital:
Receivables
Payables

3 796 942

(4 928 215)

73 651 896

(6 182 513)

67 686 431

(18 051 285)

- within one year

2 501 229

2 197 486

- in second to fifth year inclusive

5 777 908

6 837 888

8 279 137

9 035 374

Deferred income

17. Commitments
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
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Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Trust for its office property. The lease is negotiated for a term
of five years and rentals are fixed for five years. No contingent rent is payable. Another operating lease represents the lease
payments payable by the Trust for its printers. The lease is negotiated on a term of three years and rentals are fixed for three
years. No contingent rent is payable.
Commitments relating to programs
Commitments consists of contracts entered into before year end that do not lead to a constructive or legal obligation at year
end.Funding for these commitments have been confirmed.

Commitments

2017

2016

R

R

23 907 395

2 733 068

18. Related Parties
Relationships
Related entity	Gauteng Department of Health - (The MEC of Gauteng Department
of Health is also the Chairperson of the South African National
Aids Council Trust)
Trustees

Dr G Ramokgopa
Ms S Khama
Ms ME Letsike
Prof K Mlisana
Dr A Ntsaluba
Ms T Orleyn
Dr Y Pillay
Mr P Ramothwala
Mr M Tshemese
Mr M Zazini

Board appointed key management

F. Abdullah
M.C. Kganakga
A. Uys

Compensation to key management
F. Abdullah - CEO to Jan 2017
M.C. Kganakga (Acting CEO during February
and March 2017)
A. Uys - CFO

1 712 039

1 846 064

278 428

-

1 006 945

837 956

2 997 412

2 684 020

19. Trustees Remuneration
The Trust Deed provides that the Trustees shall not be remunerated for any professional services provided to the Trust. It is
comfirmed that no remuneration has been paid to the Trustees listed in the Report of the Board of Trustees in the reporting
period.
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Note(s)

20. Categories of Financial Instruments
Debt
instruments
at amortised
cost
R

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R

Leases
R

Equity and
non financial
assets and
liabilities
R

Total
R

-

-

-

1 055 017

1 055 017

-

-

-

-

12 090

12 090

-

-

-

-

1 067 107

1 067 107

Financial assets at
fair value through
profit/(loss)
R

Categories of financial instruments - 2017
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and
equipment

3

Intangible assets

4

-

Current Assets
Receivables

5

-

5 813 224

-

-

4 702 975

10 516 199

Other financial assets

6

16 193 131

-

-

-

-

16 193 131

Cash and cash
equivalents

7

-

-

-

73 987 080

73 987 080

16 193 131

5 813 224

-

-

78 690 055

100 696 410

16 193 131

5 813 224

-

-

79 757 162

101 763 517

Reserves

-

-

-

-

20 299 495

20 299 495

Total Equity

-

-

-

-

20 299 495

20 299 495

10

-

-

-

1 046 367

-

1 046 367

Payables

9

-

-

5 790 388

-

-

5 790 388

Operating lease liability

10

-

-

-

144 165

-

144 165

Deferred income

11

-

-

-

-

73 775 896

73 775 896

Provisions

8

-

-

-

-

707 208

707 208

-

-

5 790 388

144 165

74 483 104

80 417 657

Total Liabilities

-

-

5 790 388

1 190 532

74 483 104

81 464 024

Total Equity and
Liabilities

-

-

5 790 388

1 190 532

94 782 599

101 763 519

Total Assets

-

Equity and Liabilities
Equity

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Operating lease liability
Current Liabilities
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Financial assets at
fair value through
profit/(loss)
R

Debt
instruments
at amortised
cost
R

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R

Leases
R

Equity and
non financial
assets and
liabilities
R

Total
R

Categories of financial instruments - 2016
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and
equipment

3

-

-

-

-

1 376 039

1 376 039

Receivables

5

-

4 110 598

-

-

1 362 652

5 473 250

Other financial assets

6

4 438 791

-

-

-

-

4 438 791

Cash and cash
equivalents

7

-

-

-

-

14 989 659

14 989 659

4 438 791

4 110 598

-

-

16 352 311

24 901 700

4 438 791

4 110 598

-

-

17 728 350

26 277 739

Reserves

-

-

-

-

22 807 222

22 807 222

Total Equity

-

-

-

-

22 807 222

22 807 222

10

-

-

-

658 743

-

658 743

Payables

9

-

-

1 993 442

-

-

1 993 442

Operating lease liability

10

-

-

-

117 674

-

117 674

Deferred income

11

-

-

-

-

124 000

124 000

Provisions

8

-

-

-

-

576 659

576 659

-

-

1 993 442

117 674

700 659

2 811 775

Total Liabilities

-

-

1 993 442

776 417

700 659

3 470 518

Total Equity and
Liabilities

-

-

1 993 442

776 417

23 507 881

26 277 740

Current Assets

Total Assets
Equity and Liabilities
Equity

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Operating lease liability
Current Liabilities
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21. Risk Management

Credit Risk

Financial risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counter party will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Trust. Credit risk consists mainly of cash and
cash equivalents, receivables and other financial assets.
The Trust only deposits cash with major banks with high
quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one
counter-party.

The Trust’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Trust’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets, exchange
rate, interest rate and political climate and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Trust’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the finance department under policies approved by the
board. The board provides written principles for overall
risk management, as well as written policies covering
specific areas, such as interest rate risk and investment
of excess liquidity.The audit and risk committee monitors
compliance to risk management policies and evaluates
the risk environment of the Trust.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Trust’s
risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover
future commitments. The Trust manages liquidity risk
through an ongoing review of future commitments and
funding avaliable.
The table below analyses the Trust’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
At 31 March 2017
Payables
At 31 March 2016
Payables

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as
follows:
2017

2016

R

R

73 987 080

14 989 640

Receivables

10 516 199

5 473 250

Other financial assets

16 193 131

4 438 791

Financial instrument
Cash and cash
equivalents

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Trust is exposed to currency risk by virtue of having
long-term contracts with foreign donors, which is the risk
that arises as a result of changes in exchange rates. The
exposure to currency risk is limited by virtue of the limited
transactions with these donors. Transaction dates and
settlement dates are kept close together.

R
5 790 385
R
1 993 440

Interest rate risk
The Trust’s income and operating cash flows are linked to
the market interest rates. The Trust invest surplus cash
on call and investment accounts. Its exposure to interest
rate risk is however limited by virtue of the fixed rate that
surplus cash is invested at.
As of 31 March 2017, the majority of cash and cash
equivalents comprised of interest bearing assets. Based
on the balances as of 31 March 2017, a 100 basis points
increase would decrease the deficit by approximately
R384 000 (2016: R 189 000).

69

South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2016/2017

South African National AIDS Council Trust
(Registration number IT 6481/02)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

22. Fair Value Information
Fair value hierarchy
The levels are defined as follows:
Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Trust can access at measurement
date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or lability.
Levels of fair value measurements		
Level 2
Recurring fair value measurements		

Assets

Note(s)

2017

2016

Unit Trust

16 193 131

4 438 791

Total

16 193 131

4 438 791

Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss

6

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 fair values
Unit-linked investments relates to units held at collective investment schemes and are priced monthly. The prices are
obtained from the collective investment scheme management companies for the particular scheme and are based on
quoted prices that are publicly available.

23. Going Concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

24. Events after the Reporting Period
There were no events after the reporting period that affect the Financial Statements.

25. Taxation
SANAC Trust has been granted PBO status under section 30(3) of the Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962. The registration has
been granted retrospectively from 12 September 2002. SANAC Trust is therefore exempt form income tax under section
10(1)(cN) of the Income Tax Act.
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26. Operating Profit/(loss)
Operating deficit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following, amongst others:
2017

2016

R

R

266 186

254 032

1 794 914

1 794 914

388 720

373 019

310

-

389 030

373 019

Auditor’s remuneration - external
Audit fees
Leases
Contingent rentals on operating leases
Premises
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total depreciation and amortisation
Expenses by nature
The total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses,
research and development expenses, maintenance expenses and other operating expenses are analysed by nature as
follows:
Employee costs
Operating lease charges
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Other expenses

71

26 031 714

19 885 150

1 794 914

1 794 914

389 030

373 019

43 214 016

26 246 318

71 429 674

48 299 401
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Detailed Income Statement
2017

2016

R

R

31 261 698

20 223 249

Note(s)
Income
Government grants
Grants
12

34 514 824

23 611 528

65 776 522

43 834 777

(817 709)

(189 910)

(310)

-

(266 186)

(254 032)

Project expenses
Advertising
Amortisation
Auditors remuneration - external auditors

26

Bad debts
Bank charges
Consulting and professional fees
Consulting and professional fees - accounting

-

(44 186)

(114 143)

(52 915)

(8 528 998)

(14 312 538)

(558 735)

(92 040)

Consulting and professional fees - legal fees

(20 005)

-

Consumables

(97 724)

(43 046)

Depreciation
Employee costs
IT expenses

(388 720)

(373 019)

(26 031 714)

(19 885 150)

(459 740)

(690 843)

Insurance

(6 728)

(6 493)

(1 794 914)

(1 794 914)

(824)

(209 213)

(2 422 322)

(1 430 860)

(199 416)

(87 747)

(57 374)

(172 131)

Office expenses

(193 037)

(161 350)

Postage

(119 046)

(20 037)

(1 641 979)

(398 015)

Lease rentals on operating lease
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Meetings
Motor vehicle expenses
Municipal expenses

Printing and stationery
Repairs and maintenance

(43 547)

(35 567)

Staff per diems

(44 865)

(27 351)

Subscriptions

(13 995)

(6 605)

(11 963 156)

(1 097 100)

(181 328)

(98 074)

(51 847)

(62 452)

Support Grants
Telephone and fax
Training
Travel - international
Travel - local
Venue and facility hire

(83 841)

(76 957)

(12 844 392)

(5 902 037)

(2 483 079)

(774 819)

(71 429 674)

(48 299 401)

Operating deficit

26

(5 653 152)

(4 464 624)

Investment income

13

2 985 116

1 467 399

Finance costs

14

-

(693)

160 309

(17 228)

(2 507 727)

(3 015 146)

Other non-operating gains/(losses)
Fair value gains/(losses)
Deficit for the year

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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